
Town of Amherst, NH 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN AGENDA 

Barbara Landry Meeting Room 
2 Main Street 

 

MONDAY, JANUARY 22, 2024 6:00 PM 
 

 

 

 
    
1. Call to Order 
    
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
    
3. Non-Public Session 
  3.1. RSA 91-A:3 (c) Matters which, if discussed in public, would likely affect 

adversely the reputation of any person, other than a member of the public body 
itself, unless such person requests an open meeting. This exemption shall extend 
to any application for assistance or tax abatement or waiver of a fee, fine, or other 
levy, if based on inability to pay or poverty of the applicant.   

  3.2. RSA 91-A:3 (l) Consideration of legal advice provided by legal counsel, either 
in writing or orally, to one or more members of the public body, even where legal 
counsel is not present.   

    
4. Public Hearing, pursuant to New Hampshire RSA 41:14-a, Acquisition or 

Sale of Land, Buildings, or Both; Demolition or Disposal of Buildings.  
  4.1. Public Hearing, pursuant to New Hampshire RSA 41:14-a, Acquisition or 

Sale of Land, Buildings, or Both; Demolition or Disposal of Buildings.   
    
5. Citizens' Forum 
    
6. Scheduled Appointments 
 

 

  6.1. Introduction of Bob Clark, Building Inspector/ Code Enforcement  
  6.2. Lindsay Buchanan, Amherst German Christmas Market  
    
7. Administration 
  7.1. Administrative Updates  
  7.2. Investment Policy  
  7.3. PFAS Grant Amendment  
  7.4. Health Insurance contract- NH Interlocal Trust  
  7.5. BOS Action Items  

Page 1 of 95



 

 

  7.6. 2024 Warrant, with final wording  
    
8. Staff Reports 
  8.1. Donation ACC- Finance  
  8.2. Memo to Trustees of the Trust Funds- Finance  
  8.3. EMS Wage Adjustments- Fire Rescue  
  8.4. Stipend Adjustment- Fire Rescue  
  8.5. Detective Justin Gerome- Promotion to Sergeant-APD  
  8.6. Kevin Kelly Promotion-APD  
  8.7. New Hire-Kyle Cordero-APD  
  8.8. Christine Fowler Resignation-APD  
  8.9. Noemi Goohs-Change of Status (FT-PT)-APD  
    
9. Approvals 
  9.1. Assessing  
  9.2. AP, payroll and minutes  
    
10. Action Items 
    
11. Old/New Business 
    
  Adjournment 
    
  Next Meeting: February 5, 2024, Special Meeting at 4pm 
 

You are invited to a Zoom webinar.* 
When: Jan 18, 2024 06:30 PM Eastern Time (US and Canada) 
Topic: BOS 1/22/2024 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84673880490  
Or Telephone:   1 301 715 8592 
 Webinar ID: 846 7388 0490 
 
*We are working through some technical difficulties and Zoom may not be available for 
this meeting 
 
 
 

Page 2 of 95

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84673880490


Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: RSA 91-A:3 (c) Matters which, if 
discussed in public, would likely affect 
adversely the reputation of any person, other 
than a member of the public body itself, unless 
such person requests an open meeting. This 
exemption shall extend to any application for 
assistance or tax abatement or waiver of a fee, 
fine, or other levy, if based on inability to pay 
or poverty of the applicant.  

Department: Administration 

Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None 
 

Page 3 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: RSA 91-A:3 (l) Consideration of legal 
advice provided by legal counsel, either in 
writing or orally, to one or more members of 
the public body, even where legal counsel is not 
present.  

Department: Administration 

Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None 
 

Page 4 of 95



Page 5 of 95



Page 6 of 95



Page 7 of 95



Page 8 of 95



Page 9 of 95



Page 10 of 95



Page 11 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Administrative Updates Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None 
 

Page 12 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Investment Policy Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Investment Policy - FY23 DRAFT dp 
2. Investment Policy - Clean copy 2024 DRAFT 
 

Page 13 of 95



1

TOWN OF AMHERST
INVESTMENT POLICY
(Adopted on)

1. PURPOSE

The purpose of this policy is to comply with RSA 41:9 VII (Appendix A), which requires the 
Board of Selectmen to annually review and adopt an investment policy for the investment of 
public funds, and to provide a framework for the Town Treasurer to carry out the policy 
objectives.

2. AUTHORITY
 
This policy has been enacted pursuant to the statutory authority granted to the Board of 
Selectmen by RSA 41:9 VII and to the Town Treasurer by RSA 41:29 IV(Appendix B).  These 
RSAs are incorporated by reference and made part of this policy.

3. POLICY STATEMENT

The primary objective of the Town of Amherst’s investment policy is to set forth appropriate 
investment activities that provide for, first and foremost, the safety of principle, as well as 
sufficient liquidity to support operations while generating a reasonable investment yield.

       The specific policy objectives are:

1. Safety of Principal – Safety of principal is the foremost objective of the Town’s 
investment program. Investments shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the 
preservation of capital in the overall portfolio. The objective will be to mitigate rate risk.

a. Credit Risk: The Town will minimize credit risk, the risk of loss due to the failure 
of the security issuer or backer, by:

• Limiting investments to the safest types of securities
•  Pre-qualifying the financial institutions, broker/dealers, intermediaries, 

and advisers with which the Town will do business
•  Diversifying the investment portfolio so that potential losses on 

individual securities will be minimized

2. Liquidity - The investment portfolio shall remain sufficiently liquid to meet all operating 
requirements that may be reasonably anticipated. This will be accomplished by structuring 
the portfolio so that securities mature concurrent with cash needs to meet anticipated 
demands. Furthermore, since all possible cash demands cannot be anticipated, the portfolio 
should consist largely of securities with active secondary or resale markets. A portion of the 
portfolio also may be placed in money market mutual funds or local government 
investment pools (NHPDIP), which offer same-day liquidity for short-term funds.
3. Income/Yield: The investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining 
a market rate of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the 

Page 14 of 95



2

investment risk constraints and liquidity needs. Return on investment is of secondary 
importance compared to the safety and liquidity objectives described above. The majority 
of investments are limited to relatively low risk securities in anticipation of earning a fair 
return relative to the risk being assumed. Securities shall not be sold prior to maturity with 
the following exceptions:

• A security with declining credit may be sold early to minimize loss of principle.
• A security swap would improve the quality, yield, or target duration in the portfolio.
• Liquidity needs of the portfolio require that the security be sold.

• To ensure the preservation of capital and protection of investment principle by investing 
in instruments authorized by State Law, as outlined in Section 8 of this policy.

• To maintain sufficient liquidity to meet operating requirements for both the Town and 
School District.

• To satisfy all legal requirements.
• To attain market-average rate of return on investments accounting for risk, legal 

constraints and cash flow considerations.

4.  DEFINITIONS

• Board - Means the Board of Selectmen for the Town of Amherst
• Collateral - Underlying securities that are pledged to secure deposit of public funds.
• Market-average Rate of Return - The amount of income received from an investment, 

expressed as a percentage (also referred to as investment yield), that an investor can 
expect to receive in the current interest-rate environment.

• Repurchase Agreement - A transaction in which a holder of securities sells those 
securities to an investor with an agreement to repurchase those securities for a fixed price 
at an agreed-upon date.

• Safekeeping - A procedure where securities are held by a third party acting as custodian.
• School District - Amherst, Souhegan School District
• State Law - Refers to various Revised Statutes Annotated (RSA’s) of the State of New 

Hampshire, as amended, as referenced throughout the policy.
• Town - Town of Amherst, New Hampshire

5.  SCOPE

The investment policy applies to all public funds held in the custody of the Town Treasurer.  
This does not include funds held by the School District, Library Trustees or Trustees of the Trust 
Funds.  The funds held by the Treasurer are accounted for in the Town’s annual audited financial 
reports and include the following:

  .  General Fund

  .  Special Revenue Funds – which include funds overseen by the Conservation Commission 

Page 15 of 95



3

  . Agency Funds – which include escrow fee funds

  .  Capital Projects Funds

  . Any new funds created by the Town, unless specifically exempted by the governing body,
        in accordance with law.
 
Furthermore, the investment policy applies to all transactions involving financial assets and 
related activity of all foregoing funds.

This policy does not apply to funds held in escrow for performance bonds, which are held in an 
interest-bearing deposit account at an approved banking institution.

6. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

The investment policy delegation of authority is stated below:

• In accordance with RSA 41:29 VI, the responsibility for conducting investment 
transactions resides with the Town Treasurer, with the approval of the Board of 
Selectmen. However, the Treasurer may delegate investment functions to other town 
officials or employees provided such delegation is in writing and includes written 
procedures acceptable to the Board and is agreeable to all parties involved.  Any such 
delegation shall only be made to a town official or employee bonded in accordance with 
RSA 41:6 (Appendix C) and rules adopted by the commissioner of revenue 
administration.  Such delegation shall not eliminate the responsibility of the Treasurer to 
comply with all statutory duties required by law.

• No person may engage in an investment transaction except as provided under the terms of 
this policy and the internal procedures and controls hereby established. 

  7. PRUDENCE AND ETHICAL STANDARDS

  The investment policy will be conducted in accordance with the “prudent person” standard 
  which requires that:

 Investments shall be made with judgement and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which 
persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, 
not for speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of their capital as 
well as the probable income to be derived.    

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Elected Investment officials and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain 
from personal business activity activities that could conflict with (or appear to conflict with) the 

Page 16 of 95



4

proper execution and management of the investment program, or which that could impair their 
ability to make impartial investment decisions. They Such individuals shall disclose to the Board 
any material financial interests in financial institutions that with which they conduct business. 
with the Town, and They shall further disclose any large personal financial/investment positions 
that could be related to the performance of the Town’s investment portfolio.

8. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The internal controls for the Town of Amherst shall be designed to prevent losses of public funds 
arising from fraud, employee error, misrepresentation by third parties, unanticipated changes in 
financial markets, imprudent actions by elected officials and employees of the Town.

• Indemnification: In accordance with RSA 41:6 (Surety Bond Required), Town 
Treasurers, shall be bonded by position under a blanket bond from a surety company 
authorized to do business in this state.  The bond shall indemnify against losses through:

a. The failure of officers covered to faithfully perform their duties or to account 
properly for all moneys or property received by virtue of their positions, or 

b. Fraudulent or dishonest acts committed by the covered officers.

• The Treasurer, or a person delegated with this responsibility, conducts investment 
transactions via written instructions to the banking institution(s) and reviews the bank 
statements to ensure that the appropriate transactions were made per the 

             instructions.  The Finance Director, on a monthly basis, reviews and reconciles all bank 
             account activity and records the investment transactions in the general ledger.  

INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS

In accordance with RSA 41:29 II and IV, funds of the Town of Amherst may be invested in any 
of the following:

• Deposits, including money market accounts or certificates of deposit, of federally insured 
banks chartered under the laws of New Hampshire or the federal government with a 
branch within the state or funds may be deposited in federally insured banks outside the 
state if such banks pledge and deliver to a third-party custodial bank or federal reserve 
bank collateral security for such deposits of the following types:

a. United State government obligations.
b. United States government agency obligations; or
c. Obligations of the state of New Hampshire in value at least equal to the amount of 

the deposit in each case.

Page 17 of 95



5

• New Hampshire Public Deposit Investment Pool (NHPDIP) established pursuant to RSA 
383:22 (Appendix D)

• Obligations fully guaranteed as to principal and interest by the United States government.   
The obligations may be held directly or in the form of securities or other interests in any 
open-end or closed-end management-type investment company or investment trust 
registered under 15 U. S.C. section 80a-1 et seq. if the portfolio investment company or 
investment trust is limited to such obligations.

• Other instruments as may be specifically authorized by amendments to the State Law.

DIVERSIFICATION

Whenever possible, maturities of investments purchased shall be scheduled to coincide with 
projected cash flow needs, accounting for large routine expenditures (school district remittances, 
payroll and accounts payable) as well as anticipated revenue inflows. 

 It is the policy of the Town to diversify its investment portfolio.  Investment of assets held 
in the common cash fund and any other investments shall be diversified to eliminate the 
risk of loss resulting from over-concentration of assets in a specific maturity, a specific 
issuer or a specific class of securities.  Diversification strategies shall be determined and 
revised periodically by the Finance Director and reviewed by the Board of Selectmen; 
provided however, that investments of the Town shall be limited to instruments maturing 
within one (1) year at the time of purchase.

Deposits placed in the NH Deposit Investment Pool (NHDIP) shall by definition meet this 
requirement.

EXAMPLES BELOW
Diversification by Maturity: Under 1 Year – 100% Minimum Portfolio Amount

Under 180 Days – 50% Minimum
Under 90 Days – 30% Minimum
Under 30 Days – 10% Minimum

Diversification by Instrument: Overnight Investments – 100% Maximum
US Treasury Obligations – 50% Maximum
NHPDIP – 30% Maximum
Certificates of Deposit – 10% Maximum

No more than 75% of the total investment shall be invested with any one institution.

QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONS

Page 18 of 95



6

All depository accounts of the Town shall be held in the name of the Town of Amherst.

The depositories shall be selected by the Finance Director and approved by the Board of 
Selectmen after consideration of the depositories’ credit worthiness, credit characteristics 
and financial history.

The Town Treasurer shall determine the primary banking institution to be used by the Town, in 
conjunction with the Board, who is responsible for establishing budgetary parameters under 
which the Town Treasurer may operate. 

The Board, in conjunction with the Town Treasurer, shall Periodic review of the banking 
relationship shall be conducted to determine if there is a need to undertake a competitive 
bidding process for the selection of banking, investment and/ or cash management provider(s).  If 
a competitive bid is sought, the investment of the Town funds, in accordance with this policy, 
will be a key consideration in assessing and rewarding such a bid.  Once awarded, it is the 
responsibility of the provider to maintain investments within the parameters of this policy, with 
the understanding that each individual investment will not necessarily be competitively bid by 
the provider but will meet the investment criteria as proposed and agreed.

SAFEKEEPING AND COLLATERALIZATION

In accordance with RSA 41:29 V, the Treasurer shall ensure that prior to acceptance of any 
moneys for deposit or investment, including repurchase agreements, the federally insured bank 
shall have such funds, at the time of deposit of investment, secured by collateral having a market 
value of at least equal to 102% of the amount deposited or invested make available at the time 
of such deposit or investment an option to have such funds secured by collateral having a 
value of at least equal to 102% of the amount deposited or invested. 
The banking institution shall provide the Town Treasurer with at least monthly reports of the 
Town’s collateral position.  In addition, collateral agreements shall comply with the 
provisions set forth in the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 
1989 (FIRREA), which require that the collateral agreement:

1. Be in writing;
2. Be approved by the Board of Directors of the depository or its loan committee; and
3. Be, continuously from the time of its execution, an official record of the depository 

institution.

Such collateral shall be held by a third-party custodian (OR ADD “with bank’s trust 
department”) and segregated for the exclusive benefit of the town.

REPORTING

At least annually, and or in periods of significant investment activity, on a monthly basis when 
requested by the Board of Selectmen, the Town Treasurer shall include a summary of 
investment activity in the Treasurer’s Report submitted to the Board.  The report shall 
summarize the investment strategies employed, and describe the portfolio in terms of investment 

Page 19 of 95



7

securities, maturities, risk characteristics and other features. The report shall explain the 
transaction detail, expected total investment return and actual results.

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

The Town shall require, from any institution in which investing activity is conducted, sufficient 
routine reports/documentation to enable an accurate evaluation to be made as to the results of the 
Town’s investment program as it relates to the Town’s stated objectives, guidelines and policies, 
and to assist in the revealing areas for potential improvement.

9. AMENDMENTS

This Policy may, from time to time, be amended by a majority vote of the Board, at a regularly 
scheduled Board meeting.  It will, at a minimum be reviewed and adopted annually by the Board 
of Selectmen.   

10. EFFECTIVE DATE

This policy, and any amendments made shall take effect immediately following a majority vote 
of the Board at a regularly scheduled Board meeting and being recorded with the Town Clerk.

 

Page 20 of 95



1

TOWN OF AMHERST
INVESTMENT POLICY
(Adopted on)

1. PURPOSE

The purpose of this policy is to comply with RSA 41:9 VII (Appendix A), which requires the 
Board of Selectmen to annually review and adopt an investment policy for the investment of 
public funds, and to provide a framework for the Town Treasurer to carry out the policy 
objectives.

2. AUTHORITY
 
This policy has been enacted pursuant to the statutory authority granted to the Board of 
Selectmen by RSA 41:9 VII and to the Town Treasurer by RSA 41:29 IV(Appendix B).  These 
RSAs are incorporated by reference and made part of this policy.

3. POLICY STATEMENT

The primary objective of the Town of Amherst’s investment policy is to set forth appropriate 
investment activities that provide for, first and foremost, the safety of principle, as well as 
sufficient liquidity to support operations while generating a reasonable investment yield.

       The specific policy objectives are:

1. Safety of Principal – Safety of principal is the foremost objective of the Town’s investment 
program. Investments shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the preservation of 
capital in the overall portfolio. The objective will be to mitigate rate risk.

a. Credit Risk: The Town will minimize credit risk, the risk of loss due to the failure 
of the security issuer or backer, by:

• Limiting investments to the safest types of securities
•  Pre-qualifying the financial institutions, broker/dealers, intermediaries, and 

advisers with which the Town will do business.
•  Diversifying the investment portfolio so that potential losses on individual 

securities will be minimized.

2. Liquidity - The investment portfolio shall remain sufficiently liquid to meet all operating 
requirements that may be reasonably anticipated. This will be accomplished by structuring the 
portfolio so that securities mature concurrent with cash needs to meet anticipated demands. 
Furthermore, since all possible cash demands cannot be anticipated, the portfolio should consist 
largely of securities with active secondary or resale markets. A portion of the portfolio also may 
be placed in money market mutual funds or local government investment pools (NHPDIP), 
which offer same-day liquidity for short-term funds.
3. Income/Yield: The investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining a 
market rate of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the 

Page 21 of 95



2

investment risk constraints and liquidity needs. Return on investment is of secondary importance 
compared to the safety and liquidity objectives described above. The majority of investments are 
limited to relatively low risk securities in anticipation of earning a fair return relative to the risk 
being assumed. Securities shall not be sold prior to maturity with the following exceptions:

• A security with declining credit may be sold early to minimize loss of principle.
• A security swap would improve the quality, yield, or target duration in the portfolio.
• Liquidity needs of the portfolio require that the security be sold.

4.  DEFINITIONS

• Board - Means the Board of Selectmen for the Town of Amherst
• Collateral - Underlying securities that are pledged to secure deposit of public funds.
• Market-average Rate of Return - The amount of income received from an investment, 

expressed as a percentage (also referred to as investment yield), that an investor can 
expect to receive in the current interest-rate environment.

• Repurchase Agreement - A transaction in which a holder of securities sells those 
securities to an investor with an agreement to repurchase those securities for a fixed price 
at an agreed-upon date.

• Safekeeping - A procedure where securities are held by a third party acting as custodian.
• School District - Amherst, Souhegan School District
• State Law - Refers to various Revised Statutes Annotated (RSA’s) of the State of New 

Hampshire, as amended, as referenced throughout the policy.
• Town - Town of Amherst, New Hampshire

5.  SCOPE

The investment policy applies to all public funds held in the custody of the Town Treasurer.  
This does not include funds held by the School District, Library Trustees or Trustees of the Trust 
Funds.  The funds held by the Treasurer are accounted for in the Town’s annual audited financial 
reports and include the following:

  .  General Fund

  .  Special Revenue Funds – which include funds overseen by the Conservation Commission 

  . Agency Funds – which include escrow fee funds

  .  Capital Projects Funds

  . Any new funds created by the Town, unless specifically exempted by the governing body,
        in accordance with law.
 
Furthermore, the investment policy applies to all transactions involving financial assets and 
related activity of all foregoing funds.

Page 22 of 95



3

This policy does not apply to funds held in escrow for performance bonds, which are held in an 
interest-bearing deposit account at an approved banking institution.

6. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

The investment policy delegation of authority is stated below:

• In accordance with RSA 41:29 VI, the responsibility for conducting investment 
transactions resides with the Town Treasurer, with the approval of the Board of 
Selectmen. However, the Treasurer may delegate investment functions to other town 
officials or employees provided such delegation is in writing and includes written 
procedures acceptable to the Board and is agreeable to all parties involved.  Any such 
delegation shall only be made to a town official or employee bonded in accordance with 
RSA 41:6 (Appendix C) and rules adopted by the commissioner of revenue 
administration.  Such delegation shall not eliminate the responsibility of the Treasurer to 
comply with all statutory duties required by law.

• No person may engage in an investment transaction except as provided under the terms of 
this policy and the internal procedures and controls hereby established. 

  7. PRUDENCE AND ETHICAL STANDARDS

  The investment policy will be conducted in accordance with the “prudent person” standard 
  which requires that:

 Investments shall be made with judgement and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which 
persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, 
not for speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of their capital as well as 
the probable income to be derived.    

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Investment officials shall refrain from personal business activities that could conflict with (or 
appear to conflict with) the proper execution and management of the investment program, or that 
could impair the ability to make impartial decisions. They shall disclose to the Board any 
material interests in financial institutions with which they conduct business. They shall further 
disclose any personal financial/investment positions that could be related to the performance of 
the Town’s investment portfolio.

8. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

INTERNAL CONTROLS

Page 23 of 95



4

The internal controls for the Town of Amherst shall be designed to prevent losses of public funds 
arising from fraud, employee error, misrepresentation by third parties, unanticipated changes in 
financial markets, imprudent actions by elected officials and employees of the Town.

• Indemnification: In accordance with RSA 41:6 (Surety Bond Required), Town 
Treasurers, shall be bonded by position under a blanket bond from a surety company 
authorized to do business in this state.  The bond shall indemnify against losses through:

a. The failure of officers covered to faithfully perform their duties or to account 
properly for all moneys or property received by virtue of their positions, or 

b. Fraudulent or dishonest acts committed by the covered officers.

• The Treasurer, or a person delegated with this responsibility, conducts investment 
transactions via written instructions to the banking institution(s) and reviews the bank 
statements to ensure that the appropriate transactions were made per the 

             instructions.  The Finance Director, on a monthly basis, reviews and reconciles all bank 
             account activity and records the investment transactions in the general ledger.  

INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS

In accordance with RSA 41:29 II and IV, funds of the Town of Amherst may be invested in any 
of the following:

• Deposits, including money market accounts or certificates of deposit, of federally insured 
banks chartered under the laws of New Hampshire or the federal government with a 
branch within the state or funds may be deposited in federally insured banks outside the 
state if such banks pledge and deliver to a third-party custodial bank or federal reserve 
bank collateral security for such deposits of the following types:

a. United State government obligations.
b. United States government agency obligations; or
c. Obligations of the state of New Hampshire in value at least equal to the amount of 

the deposit in each case.

• New Hampshire Public Deposit Investment Pool (NHPDIP) established pursuant to RSA 
383:22 (Appendix D)

• Obligations fully guaranteed as to principal and interest by the United States government.   
The obligations may be held directly or in the form of securities or other interests in any 
open-end or closed-end management-type investment company or investment trust 
registered under 15 U. S.C. section 80a-1 et seq. if the portfolio investment company or 
investment trust is limited to such obligations.

• Other instruments as may be specifically authorized by amendments to the State Law.

Page 24 of 95



5

DIVERSIFICATION

 It is the policy of the Town to diversify its investment portfolio.  Investment of assets held in the 
common cash fund and any other investments shall be diversified to eliminate the risk of loss 
resulting from over-concentration of assets in a specific maturity, a specific issuer or a specific 
class of securities.  Diversification strategies shall be determined and revised periodically by the 
Finance Director and reviewed by the Board of Selectmen; provided however, that investments 
of the Town shall be limited to instruments maturing within one (1) year at the time of purchase.

Deposits placed in the NH Deposit Investment Pool (NHDIP) shall by definition meet this 
requirement.

QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONS

All depository accounts of the Town shall be held in the name of the Town of Amherst.

The depositories shall be selected by the Finance Director and approved by the Board of 
Selectmen after consideration of the depositories’ credit worthiness, credit characteristics and 
financial history.

Periodic review of the banking relationship shall be conducted to determine if there is a need to 
undertake a competitive bidding process for the selection of banking, investment and/ or cash 
management provider(s).  If a competitive bid is sought, the investment of the Town funds, in 
accordance with this policy, will be a key consideration in assessing and rewarding such a bid.  
Once awarded, it is the responsibility of the provider to maintain investments within the 
parameters of this policy, with the understanding that each individual investment will not 
necessarily be competitively bid by the provider but will meet the investment criteria as proposed 
and agreed.

SAFEKEEPING AND COLLATERALIZATION

In accordance with RSA 41:29 V, the Treasurer shall ensure that prior to acceptance of any 
moneys for deposit or investment, including repurchase agreements, the federally insured bank 
shall have available at the time of such deposit or investment, an option to have such funds 
secured by collateral having a value of at least equal to 102% of the amount deposited or 
invested. 
The banking institution shall provide the Town Treasurer with at least monthly reports of the 
Town’s collateral position.  In addition, collateral agreements shall comply with the provisions 
set forth in the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 
(FIRREA), which require that the collateral agreement:

1. Be in writing.
2. Be approved by the Board of Directors of the depository or its loan committee; and
3. Be, continuously from the time of its execution, an official record of the depository 

institution.

Page 25 of 95



6

Such collateral shall be segregated for the exclusive benefit of the town.

REPORTING

At least annually, or when requested by the Board of Selectmen, the Town Treasurer shall 
include a summary of investment activity in the Treasurer’s Report submitted to the Board.  The 
report shall summarize the investment strategies employed, and describe the portfolio in terms of 
investment securities, maturities, risk characteristics and other features. The report shall explain 
the transaction detail, expected total investment return and actual results.

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

The Town shall require, from any institution in which investing activity is conducted, sufficient 
routine reports/documentation to enable an accurate evaluation to be made as to the results of the 
Town’s investment program as it relates to the Town’s stated objectives, guidelines and policies, 
and to assist in the revealing areas for potential improvement.

9. AMENDMENTS

This Policy may, from time to time, be amended by a majority vote of the Board, at a regularly 
scheduled Board meeting.  It will, at a minimum be reviewed and adopted annually by the Board 
of Selectmen.   

10. EFFECTIVE DATE

This policy, and any amendments made shall take effect immediately following a majority vote 
of the Board at a regularly scheduled Board meeting and being recorded with the Town Clerk.

 

Page 26 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: PFAS Grant Amendment Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The current NH DES grant ends in April.  This extension, which needs to go to 
Governor & Council, would go to January 1, 2026.  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
Allows us to continue working on the project with state grant funding 
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move that we enter into a PFAS Remeiation Loan Fund grant extension with the New 
Hampshire Department of Environmental Services to continue funding our water 
system improvement project and further authorize the Town Administrator, Dean E. 
Shankle, Jr., to execute any documents which may be necessary to effectuate this 
grant agreement.  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION: 
Yes, this will keep the project moving forward with state grant funding.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Draft Amendment 
 

Page 27 of 95



Page 28 of 95



Page 29 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Health Insurance contract- NH 
Interlocal Trust 

Department: Administration 

Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Amherst_NTE Package (2024) 
 

Page 30 of 95



 
 
 

Town of Amherst  
Health Insurance Renewal Package 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
SUBMITTED BY:                New Hampshire Interlocal Trust (NHIT) 
DATE:                                                                           October 31, 2023 

Page 31 of 95



Table of Contents 
 

Section I  

• NHIT Not-to-Exceed (NTE) Renewal Letter 

Section II 

• Membership Confirmation 

Section III 

• Not-to-Exceed (NTE) Checklist 

Section IV 

• Frequently Asked Questions – Membership Confirmation 

Section V 

• SIMON User Authorization Form 
• SIMON Employer Contribution Form 

Page 32 of 95



New Hampshire Interlocal Trust    PO Box 4090     Concord, NH 03302     P:(603) 223-6448     F:(603) 223-6902 

 
 
Town of Amherst                  
Jennifer Stover 
Executive Assistant 
2 Main Street 
Amherst, NH 03031 
 
 
Dear Ms. Stover, 
 
The New Hampshire Interlocal Trust (NHIT) Board of Trustees met on Monday October 30, 2023, to 
review and approve the Not-to-Exceed (NTE) renewal rating for the Plan Year beginning July 1, 2024.  
 
We are excited to be able to provide our member groups with an earlier Not-to-Exceed (NTE) Rate for 
this year and beyond. Member groups can expect to receive their NTE rates in October of each year 
moving forward. 
 
Despite experiencing the highest levels of inflation the US has seen in over 20 years, we continue to stay 
focused on stabilizing rates by focusing on claims mitigation. There is no rating factor more closely tied 
to your health insurance contribution than your claims experience.  We hope to combat some of the 
inflationary effects of Medical Cost Trend by helping our members engage in Healthcare Consumerism 
programs. We believe that helping our members become cost-conscious is the most effective way to 
curb the effect of the rising cost of healthcare services. Here are some of our primary areas of focus: 

• We will continue to work with member groups to promote and educate their employees about 
our free healthcare consumerism programs, Compare Care and Doctor on Demand.  

• We will continue to encourage members with specialty care needs and chronic diseases to use 
our Care Management Programs, where they will get support from registered nurses, 
pharmacists, and wellness coaches to help them manage their condition.  

• We will continue to encourage member groups to consider implementing Consumer Driven 
Health Plans (CDHC) and Health Savings Accounts (HSA); health plans designed to cause 
members to be more mindful about the costs associated with the care they receive. 

The NTE renewal for Town of Amherst is 9.30%.  
 
February Confirmation Process 
By renewing your membership in the NHIT on or before February 2, 2024, you are guaranteed that this 
rate will not increase for July 1, 2024.  You can use these rates for budgeting purposes as they will not be 
increased in the final calculation – they can only be lower. 
 
Final rates for your July 1, 2024, plan year will be provided by the first week of April at the latest. At 
that time, if your health plan’s claims experience has improved, your final renewal rates may be 
lower. If your plan’s experience has become less favorable, these Not-to-Exceed rates will apply. 
 

Page 33 of 95



New Hampshire Interlocal Trust    PO Box 4090     Concord, NH 03302     P:(603) 223-6448     F:(603) 223-6902 

If you renew after February 2, 2024, your final rate will reflect your claims experience at the time of 
final rating, which may be higher or lower than your NTE. You can make plan changes after February 2, 
2024, without affecting your NTE renewal.  
 
NHIT Plan Options 

 

If you would like to learn more about other new, alternative medical or prescription 
drug plans to offer for the upcoming year, please reach out to Brittany White 
(brittany@nhitrust.org)  or Lauren Moseley (lauren@nhitrust.org) at 1-888-960-6448. 

 
NHIT Benefit News 

 

SIMON Platform. Effective July 1, 2023, NHIT Member Groups began receiving new 
monthly invoices generated through our new Benefits Administration Platform. 
Through SIMON, a HITRUST certified portal by Vimly Benefit Solutions, Employers and 
Employees will be able to utilize the platform directly for an enhanced online digital 
experience.  
 
As part of our implementation of the portal, July Member Groups will be provided 
view-only access to become familiar with the platform and its features. As soon as the 
Interlocal Trust receives your signed February Confirmation, and the completed SIMON 
User Forms, NHIT will grant access to your designated Administrators. Member Groups 
can expect to receive full system access with the ability to process your own group 
enrollments, terminations and changes by Spring 2024. 

With the introduction of this new system, the Interlocal Trust will be able to offer 
Employee access to SIMON for Open Enrollment for July 2024. Within SIMON® 
Employee Self-Service (ESS), employees will be able to view their benefits, process a 
qualifying life event (QLE), elect open enrollment benefits, view and update their 
demographic information, access documents and links (e.g., SBCs), update 
beneficiaries, view alerts from their employer, and more! 

 
All features are permission based and can be enabled or disabled, based on your 
preferences. For example, if you want employees to only be able to view their 
information, or only be able to edit demographic information and not benefits, SIMON 
can be configured to support this. 
 

 

Compare Care.  July 1, 2023, the Reduce My Costs Program became Compare Care. 
This change was a result of our efforts to differentiate our savings program from the 
Harvard Pilgrim program under the same name. Updated materials have been sent 
directly to all NHIT Member Groups. 
 
Compare Care Prior Notifications.  To help employees use the Interlocal Trust cost 
savings program, Compare Care, program nurses will begin to reach out directly to 
enrolled employees and dependents when a lower cost option is identified for any 
upcoming high-end imaging or infusion therapy procedures.  
 

Page 34 of 95

mailto:brittany@nhitrust.org
mailto:lauren@nhitrust.org


New Hampshire Interlocal Trust    PO Box 4090     Concord, NH 03302     P:(603) 223-6448     F:(603) 223-6902 

The goal of this outreach is to help keep Interlocal Trust Members informed when 
there is a cost savings opportunity available. Compare Care Nurses will continue to 
handle all scheduling details and the transferring of results to the referring physician. 
We hope this will boost program engagement and increase both group savings and 
employee savings. 
 

If you have any additional questions or if there is anything else that your Member Services Team can 
assist with, please let me know. We look forward to continuing to serve you and your employees!   
 
Sincerely, 

 
McKenzie MacDougall 
Member Services Manager  
 

 
Jeff Reardon 
Trust Administrator  
 

 

Page 35 of 95



 
 

Town of Amherst 
NTE Rates 
July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2025 
 
10/31/2023 
 
 
RE: July 2024 NTE Renewal 
 
 
By renewing your membership with the New Hampshire Interlocal Trust (NHIT) by February 2, 2024, you 
are guaranteed that this renewal will not increase for July 1, 2024.   

Town of Amherst can still make plan benefit changes with the NHIT for the plan year beginning July 1st 
after February 1st without affecting your NTE renewal.   

If Town of Amherst does not renew by February 2, 2024, your final rates for the new plan year, based on 
your health plan’s claims experience, may be higher or lower than the NTE rates shown below.   

Town of Amherst’s Not-to-Exceed renewal estimate for the plan year beginning July 1, 2024, is 9.30%.  
Premium calculations based on this NTE renewal are provided below.  These rates may still decrease 
when final rates are released. 

  

HMO Super $25 $500 
R $0/$10/$30/$50 
M $0/$10/$30/$50 
MD24400 Rx21546 

Billing Rates   
Single  $1,577.56 

Two-Person  $3,151.69 
Family  $4,253.43 

 

  

ME $5 
R $10/$30/$50 
M $10/$30/$50 

ME $25 $1000 
R $10/$30/$50 
M $10/$30/$50 

MD50 Rx694 MD3149 Rx694 
Billing Rates   

Single  $1,303.41 $1,117.88 
 
Town of Amherst accepts the Not-to-Exceed renewal provided and confirms continued membership 
with the New Hampshire Interlocal Trust for the plan year July 1, 2024, through June 30, 2025.   
 

 

______________________________________        
Authorized Signature     Date 
 
 
             
Print Name      Title  

PLEASE SIGN AND RETURN BY FEBRUARY 2, 2024 

Page 36 of 95



 

 

 

 
 
 

NOT-TO-EXCEED (NTE) CHECKLIST 
 
 

 

1. PAPERWORK 

☐ Sign and return Membership Confirma�on to NHIT by February 2, 2024 

If you do not renew by February 2, 2024, your final rates for the new plan year, based on your health plan’s 
experience, may be higher or lower than the NTE rates shown below. 

☐ Complete and return your SIMON Paperwork to NHIT by February 2, 2024 

The SIMON Authoriza�on form will grant access to your designated Administrators in our new Benefits 
Administra�on Pla�orm – SIMON©. Member groups can expect to receive full system access with the 
ability to process group enrollments, termina�ons and changes by Spring 2024 (if desired). 

2. CONTACT NHIT TO… 

☐ Request to review plan alterna�ves with NHIT (if desired) 

☐ Update/Add any FSA or HRA plan design(s) (if applicable) 

☐ Plan Wellness Programming for the year – schedule on-site educa�ons, challenges, biometric fairs, etc. 

☐ Schedule mid-year Benefits Reviews with Member Services   

☐ Order Enrollment Materials 

☐ Ask any ques�ons… or tell us what you need! 

 

Page 37 of 95



1

2

3

4

Yes, this is your NTE renewal for the plan year beginning July 1, 2024. To retain
this renewal, you need to confirm your membership for the 2024 plan year no
later than February 2, 2024.

If you don't sign up by February 2, 2024, the NTE renewal, based on your claims
experience may increase.

IS THIS MY NOT-TO-EXCEED RENEWAL?

WHAT IF WE DON'T CONFIRM MEMBERSHIP BY FEBRUARY 3 FOR
THE JULY 2024 PLAN YEAR?

Confirming your membership by February 2 does not affect changing to
alternative plans. New plan rates will be based on your guaranteed NTE.

Yes, if you confirm your renewal by February 2, your final July 2024 rates may
be lower depending on your claims experience. Final rates will be released at
the end of March 2024.

CAN OUR NTE RENEWAL STILL DECREASE WHEN FINAL RENEWAL
RATES ARE RELEASED?

HOW DOES THIS AFFECT SELECTING ALTERNATIVE PLAN OPTIONS
FOR THE NEW YEAR?

Not-to-Exceed (NTE)
FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS

Please do not hesitate to reach out to your Member Services Team with any questions or
concerns. They can be reached directly at 603-223-6448 or via email at info@nhitrust.org.

The following Not-to-Exceed (NTE) FAQ reviews the New Hampshire Interlocal Trust's
Membership Confirmation process involving your proposed NTE rate for the upcoming plan
year.

Page 38 of 95



SIMON Access Request Form - Employer Portal 

I, _____________________________, authorized representa�ve for _____________________________ 
(NHIT Member Group) hereby authorize New Hampshire Interlocal Trust to provide the below 
individual(s) with online access to our Employer data through Vimly’s SIMON portal. 

Generic and/or group emails will not be authorized and are not permited under SIMON Terms of Use. 

Name Email Address 

Employee Management 
Permissions 

Billing 
Management 
Permissions 

None View 
Only* 

View & 
Edit** None View 

Only* 

*Can view employee and dependent/employer billing informa�on 
**Can view and edit employee informa�on (i.e. demographics, etc.) and manage employer informa�on following the comple�on of
the NHIT Pilot Program 

I acknowledge acces to this informa�on is protected by state and federal privacy and security laws. In 
compliance with those laws I authorize online access for the above referenced individual(s) through 
SIMON to Employer’s data for purposes of performing administra�ve func�ons specifically related to the 
maintenance of Employer’s Benefit Plan(s). I understand this authoriza�on will remain ac�ve in 
accordance with Vimly’s Terms of Use unless otherwise terminated. I understand this authoriza�on may 
be withdrawn at any �me by providing writen no�ce to NHIT. 

Employer acknowledges it is solely responsible for the ac�ons and/or omissions performed by its 
authorized individual(s) while in SIMON, and to no�fy NHIT when any authorized access must be 
terminated. 

Name Title 

Signature Date 

Please note: NHIT will not have hard copy enrollment/change forms when changes are made online through 
SIMON by the Employer. Therefore, the Employer is responsible for retaining hard copies of enrollment forms on 
file for audi�ng purposes. 

Page 39 of 95



 

 

 

 

SIMON - Employer/Employee Contributions 
 
The New Hampshire Interlocal Trust is reques�ng informa�on specific to your Employer and Employee 
contribu�ons for each of your health plans offered. If you break down contribu�ons by class (Police, Fire, 
Teachers, etc.) please notate the class next to the health plan. 

This informa�on will be entered into the SIMON portal and will be used for Employer Repor�ng, Annual 
RxDc Report required by CMS, and for the Employee Portal. 

Please note: Contribu�ons need to be a fixed dollar amount or percentage of the en�re monthly 
premium. If a percentage is used, please let us know who will contribute frac�ons of a penny a�er 
calcula�ng the premium (Employer or Employee). 

Group Name: _______________________________________________ 
Effec�ve Dates: ___________________________________________ 

Number of Pay Periods: ____________________________________ 
 

Health Plan: ______________________________________________                    Class: _______________________ 

Plan Level Employer Contribu�ons (%/$) Employee Contribu�ons 
Single   

Two-Person   

Family   

 

Health Plan: ______________________________________________                    Class: _______________________ 

Plan Level Employer Contribu�ons Employee Contribu�ons 
Single   

Two-Person   

Family   

 

Health Plan: ______________________________________________                    Class: _______________________ 

Plan Level Employer Contribu�ons Employee Contribu�ons 
Single   

Two-Person   

Family   

 

Health Plan: ______________________________________________                    Class: _______________________ 

Plan Level Employer Contribu�ons Employee Contribu�ons 
Single   

Two-Person   

Family   
Page 40 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: BOS Action Items Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. BOS Action Items 2024 as of 1-8-24 
 

Page 41 of 95



AMHERST BOS ACTION ITEMS

ITEM
CREATION 
DATE

DUE 
DATE

PERSONS 
RESPONSIBLE NOTES

1 Provide additional info on proposed Clean Water State 
Revolving Fund Loan

1/8/24 1/22/24 Eric

2 Draft 7% 457(b) grant policy and obtain legal review 12/11/23 1/22/24 Dean, Peter Confirm those electing NHRS can be excluded from 7% grant
3 Discussions re revision to Mont Vernon Ambulance Contract 6/26/23 1/22/24 Danielle, Dean Report on MV position
4 BOS discuss Investment Policy 5/22/23 1/22/24 BOS, Jennifer Jennifer to put on agenda for BOS meeting

5 Make inquiries re improving cell service in village 7/24/23 1/22/24 Peter, Danielle, 
Dean

Dean to inquire about process/agents to assist with 
company funded tower

6 Post Town Treasurer Position Availability 10/23/23 1/22/24 Danielle, Dean Confirm opening has been posted

7 TF I private home well test results to assist BOS in decisions on 
potential connection to public water

5/8/23 1/22/24 Dean Dean circulate Map (completed).  State conclusion on 
"Fingerprint" determination by S-H/DES on wells.

8 Sanborn-Head Report/Recommendations re Fire Station 
Remediation

10/10/23 1/22/24 Dean Status of Report/Recommendations.  Preliminary Cost 
Estimate if possible

9 BOS discuss village truck traffic ban 5/8/23 1/22/24 Dean, Peter Obtain Highway Safety Committee recommendations, 
including draft ordinance.

10 Chestnut Hill traffic study/Highway Safety status 11/6/23 1/22/24 Dean Obtain Highway Safety Committee recommendations.
11 Request Withdrawal of server replacement expense from CRF 9/25/23 1/22/24 Debbie
12 BOS discuss use of ARPA Funds 5/22/23 1/22/24 BOS

13 Written request impact fee expenditure for Buck Meadow 
Engineering per policy

11/20/23 1/22/24 Craig

14 Review of Town Common Usage Policy 12/11/23 1/22/24 BOS

15 Provide recommendations on who should conduct assessment 
of Tower Truck

12/18/23 1/22/24 Chief Conley

16 Provide information re Impervious Surface Study for MS4 
Efforts, NRPC contact

12/4/23 2/12/24 Eric

17 Status of TF I Property Quiet Title Effort 10/10/23 3/18/24 Dean Court filing authorized. Check with T. Quinn re status
18 Begin Semiquincentennial Planning 9/25/23 4/1/24 Danielle Update

19 Advise BOS of Ambulance Usage and Cost information, 
separately for each of the three ambulances

5/8/23 5/1/24 Chief Conley

20 Review Personnel Funded through -02 Account 12/11/23 6/10/24 Bill BOS and Rec make decisions before next budget cycle
21 Civil Engineering on-Call Contract - Report on FY24 Usage 9/11/23 7/15/24 Eric Compare usage of two awardees

Page 42 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: 2024 Warrant, with final wording Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 2024 WARRANT ARTICLE Final 01.11.24 Amended 01.19.24 - has signature lines 
 

Page 43 of 95



Page 1 of 5

 
AMHERST TOWN WARRANT 

THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
MARCH 12, 2024

To the inhabitants of the Town of Amherst in the County of Hillsborough and the State of New 
Hampshire, qualified to vote in town affairs:

You are hereby notified that the Annual Meeting of Amherst will be held in accordance with NH 
RSA 40:13. The first session, to transact all business other than voting, is on Wednesday, 
February 7, 2024, at 7:00 PM at the Souhegan High School Auditorium. The second session, 
voting by official ballot at the polls, is on Tuesday, March 12, 2024, at the Souhegan High School 
from 6:00 AM to 8:00 PM.

ARTICLE 21:  To choose all necessary Town Officers for the ensuing terms as follows:

2 Selectmen for 3 Years
1 Town Moderator for 2 Years
1 Cemetery Trustee for 3 Years
1 Trustee of the Trust Funds for 3 Years
2 Zoning Board of Adjustment Members for 3 Years
2 Planning Board Members for 3 Years
2 Library Trustees for 3 Years
1 Supervisor of the Checklist for 6 Years

ARTICLE 22:  Operating Budget
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate as an operating budget, not including appropriations 
by special warrant articles and other appropriations voted separately, the amounts set forth on the 
budget posted with the warrant or as amended by vote of the first session, for the purposes set 
forth herein, totaling $17,299,780.  Should this article be defeated the default budget shall be 
$16,471,990 which is the same as last year with certain adjustments required by previous action of 
the Town or by law; or the governing body may hold one special meeting in accordance with RSA 
40:13 X and XVI to take up the issue of a revised operating budget only. This operating budget 
warrant article does not include appropriations contained in any other warrant article. (Tax Impact 
=$4.41) (Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 6-0-1.)

Page 44 of 95



Page 2 of 5

ARTICLE 23:   Contingency Fund
Shall the Town vote to establish a contingency fund for the current year, in accordance with NH 
RSA Section 31:98-a, for unanticipated expenses that may arise and further to raise and 
appropriate the sum of one hundred twenty thousand dollars ($120,000) to go into the fund. Said 
sum shall come from the unassigned fund balance and no amount to be raised from taxation. Any 
appropriation left in the fund at the end of the year will lapse to the general fund. (Tax Impact = 
$0.00) (Majority vote required) 

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 7-0-0)

ARTICLE 24:  Baboosic Lake Septic Operating Budget
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $104,200, for operating and maintaining 
the Baboosic Lake Septic System for the ensuing year, said sum is to be offset by user fees. 
Should this article be defeated the default budget shall be $69,040, which is the same as last year 
with certain adjustments required by previous action of the Town or by law. (Tax Impact = $0.00) 
(Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 7-0-0.)

ARTICLE 25:  Communications Center Capital Reserve Fund
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of forty thousand dollars ($40,000) to be 
added to the Communications Center Capital Reserve Fund, previously established. (Tax Impact = 
$0.02) (Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 7-0-0.)

ARTICLE 26: Assessing Revaluation Capital Reserve Fund
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) to 
be added to the Assessing Revaluation Capital Reserve Fund, previously established. (Tax Impact 
= $0.01) (Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 7-0-0.)

ARTICLE 27:  Bridge Repair and Replacement Capital Reserve Fund
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of two hundred fifty thousand dollars 
($250,000) to be added to the Bridge Repair and Replacement Capital Reserve Fund, previously 
established. (Tax Impact = $0.10) (Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 7-0-0.)

Page 45 of 95



Page 3 of 5

ARTICLE 28:  Fire Rescue Vehicle and Equipment Purchase and Repair Capital Reserve 
Fund
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of two hundred fifty-seven thousand dollars 
($257,000) to be added to the Fire Rescue Vehicle and Equipment Purchase and Repair Capital 
Reserve Fund, previously established. (Tax Impact = $0.11) (Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 7-0-0.)

ARTICLE 29:  DPW Vehicles and Equipment Acquisition and Replacement Capital Reserve 
Fund
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of one hundred twenty thousand dollars 
($120,000) to be added to the DPW Vehicles and Equipment Acquisition and Replacement Capital 
Reserve Fund, previously established. (Tax Impact = $0.05) (Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 7-0-0.)

ARTICLE 30:  Amherst Multimodal Facilities Capital Reserve Fund 
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of seventy-five thousand dollars ($75,000) to 
be added to the Amherst Multimodal Facilities Capital Reserve Fund, previously established.
(Tax Impact = $0.03) (Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 7-0-0.)

ARTICLE 31:  Police Union Contract 
Shall the Town vote to approve the cost items in a three (3) year collective bargaining agreement 
(beginning July 1, 2024, through June 30, 2027) reached between the Board of Selectmen and the 
American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees Local 3657 (Police Union) which 
calls for the following increases in salaries and benefits at the current staffing lever:
Fiscal Year Estimated Increase 
FY 2025 $238,900
FY 2026   $71,100
FY 2027   $55,500

and further to raise and appropriate the sum of, two hundred thirty-eight thousand nine hundred 
dollars ($238,900) for the First Year FY2025, such sum representing the additional costs 
attributable to the increase in salaries and benefits required by the new agreement over those paid 
at the current staffing level.

Page 46 of 95



Page 4 of 5

(Tax Impact: Year 1 $0.09) 
(Tax Impact: Year 2 $0.03) 
(Tax Impact: Year 3 $0.02) 
(Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 7-0-0.)
ARTICLE 32:  Special Meeting for Defeated/Amended Collective Bargaining Agreement 
Shall the town, if Article #31 is defeated, authorize the governing body to call one special meeting, 
at its option, to address Article #31 cost items only? 
(This article has no tax impact.) (Majority vote required) 

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 7-0-0.) 

ARTICLE 33:  Community Power 
Shall the Town vote to adopt the Amherst Community Power Plan, which authorizes the Board of 
Selectmen to develop and implement Amherst Community Power as described therein (pursuant to 
RSA 53-E:7). The program would provide a new default electric supply and new renewable energy 
supply options for customers in the town of Amherst. There is no cost to the Town budget, and no 
obligation to participate. Customers can opt out at any time and return to utility default service.  (No 
Tax impact) (Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 7-0-0.)

ARTICLE 34:  Stormwater Planning Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF Loan)
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) 
(gross budget) for the purpose of stormwater planning work relative to management of the 
municipal storm drain system in accordance with the 2017, NH Small MS4 General Permit (“the 
Project”), and to authorize the issuance of not more than $100,000 of bonds or notes in 
accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Finance Act (RSA 33, as amended); to authorize 
the  Board of Selectmen to issue and negotiate such bonds or notes and to determine the date, 
maturities, interest rate, and other details of such bonds or note: and to authorize the Board of 
Selectmen to apply for, accept, and expend any federal, state, or private funds that may become 
available in respect of the Project to reduce the amount that must be bonded or to pay debt service 
on such bonds or notes including but not limited to a Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF) 
loan. The Town anticipates that repayment of the CWSRF loan may include up to 100% principal 
forgiveness. (No Tax impact) (3/5 majority vote required).

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 7-0-0.)

ARTICLE 35: Rail Trail Referendum

Page 47 of 95



Page 5 of 5

To see if the town is in favor, in the future, of raising and appropriating the total amount up to 
$336,000 over three successive fiscal years (2026, 2027, and 2028) to serve as the required 
match for a New Hampshire Department of Transportation grant for a new rail trail two plus miles in 
length and extending from Walnut Hill Road to Baboosic Lake Road, with a spur to the Meeting 
Place Mall, with construction estimated to begin in 2027 and completion estimated in 2029.  The 
NH DOT grant requires a 20% match from the Town; the NH DOT is offering to provide a grant in 
the amount of $1.346M.  If supported by the voters, the Board of Selectmen will enter into an 
agreement with NH DOT and will come back to the voters with a request for funding at a future 
town meeting. (Advisory only) (No Tax impact) (Majority vote required).

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of 5-0-0)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of 7-0-0.)

Given under our hands and seal this 22nd day of January 2024

________________________               _________________________              ______________________    
Peter Lyon, Chairman     Danielle Pray, Vice-Chairman               William Stoughton, Clerk

________________________      ________________________
Thomas Grella, Selectmen      John D’Angelo, Selectmen

Page 48 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Donation ACC- Finance Department: Finance Department 
Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact: Debbie Bender  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Candace G. Rapf has sent a check in the amount of $10,000 as a donation to the 
Amherst Conservation Commission. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
N/A 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
N/A 
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Accept 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to accept the donation from Candace Rapf to the Amherst Conservation 
Commission in the amount of $10,000. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Donation - Candace G. Rapf - 01.11.2024 - $10,000 
 

Page 49 of 95



Page 50 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Memo to Trustees of the Trust 
Funds- Finance 

Department: Finance Department 

Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact: Debbie Bender  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Memo to the Trustees of the Trust Funds from the Board of Selectmen to withdraw 
$22,507.83 from the CRF for Computer System. This amount was paid to Microtime 
Computers for the replacement of the Town Hall Server. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
N/A 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
N/A 
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Accept 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to approve the request to the Trustees of the Trust Funds to withdraw money 
from the CRF for Computer Systems, in order to reimburse the Town for $22,507.83 
spent on replacing the Town Hall server. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. CRF Withdrawal packet BOS meeting 01.22.24 Computer System CRF $22,507.83 
 

Page 51 of 95



Page 52 of 95



Page 53 of 95



Page 54 of 95



Page 55 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: EMS Wage Adjustments- Fire 
Rescue 

Department: Fire Rescue 

Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact: Matt Conley  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Similar to what the BOS did with wage adjustments as it relates to the Wage Matrix for full-time 
employees for the time frame of 1/1/2024-6/30/2024, I am requesting a wage adjustment for our 
EMS providers that will be scaled to recognize longevity with the department and their time at a 
provider level. It is critical to do this at the midway point of the FY24 budget to retain existing 
employees and attract new ones. Currently, on average, we are on the low to medium range with 
other communities. We have lost providers due to this, and we need to do what we can to 
maintain the contingent of per diem employees that we have, which is much more budget 
friendly than adding full-time staffing. This adjustment is the beginning of a phased-in approach 
as it continues with the adoption of the FY25 budget. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
There is an impact to the existing budget, however with some concessions and transfer of funds in 
the existing budgets, the increase can be made so it is level as it sits today. 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
None 
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
I recommend that the BOS moves forward with this plan as it is critical to the continuation of how the 
department operates with per diem employees.  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move for the BOS to go forward with the wage adjustment as recommended by Chief Matthew 
Conley and that it is retroactive to January 7, 2024.  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION: 
From the information provided, it is not clear what the basis for each of the changes 
is.   Is it longevity, or some other criteria?  Some type of step chart that would help the 
Board understand the rationale, and what happens going forward, would be helpful.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Pay Comparisons for EMS 1.1.2024-6.30.2024 (1) 
2. Inaugural FY24 Fire-Rescue Wage Scale Effective 1-07-2024 

Page 56 of 95



 

Page 57 of 95



Bedford Fire 
Rescue

Goffstown Fire 
Rescue Milford EMS

New Boston Fire 
Rescue

Peterborough 
Fire Rescue

Amherst 
Fire Rescue

EMT N/A $17.41 - $21.76 $17.50 - $19.00 $20.00 - $22.00 $21.00 - $24.00 $19.69
A-EMT $24.00 $21.07 - $26.32 $21.50 - $23.50 $24.29 $23.00 - $25.00 $20.75
Paramedic $26.00 - $32.00 $24.36 - $30.42 $25.00 - $30.00 $28.12 $26.75 $25.27

Page 58 of 95



Amherst Fire Rescue  Proposed Wage Schedule 1/7/2024 - 6/30/2024
GRADE POSITION Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Step 7 Step 8 Step 9 Step 10

1 EMT 20.69 21.10 21.53 21.96 22.40 22.84 23.30 23.77 24.24 24.73
2 EMT w/FF Cert and A-EMT 21.69 22.12 22.57 23.02 23.48 23.95 24.43 24.91 25.41 25.92
3 A-EMT w/FF Cert 21.75 22.19 22.63 23.08 23.54 24.01 24.49 24.98 25.48 25.99
4 A-EMT w/ Supervision Duty 23.75 24.23 24.71 25.20 25.71 26.22 26.75 27.28 27.83 28.38
5 Paramedic 26.00 26.52 27.05 27.59 28.14 28.71 29.28 29.87 30.46 31.07
6 Paramedic w/FF Cert 26.50 27.03 27.57 28.12 28.68 29.26 29.84 30.44 31.05 31.67
7 Paramedic w/FF Cert & Supervisor Duty 27.27 27.82 28.37 28.94 29.52 30.11 30.71 31.32 31.95 32.59

Page 59 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Stipend Adjustment- Fire Rescue Department: Fire Rescue 
Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact: Matt Conley  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Dating back to the nineties the department instituted an On Call Officer system to guarantee 
there would be two fire officers in town to manage the service calls and respond to emergency 
calls. Initially there was not a stipend to go along with the system. Dating back as far as 2012 a 
stipend was introduced  where the officer would receive $25.00 for a 12-hour period and $50.00 
for a 24-hour period. With this no longer being enticing to the officers and the fact we have gone 
down to single officer coverage it is time to adjust the stipend. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
There will not be an impact as we have gone down to single officer coverage, which will amount to 
the same that it has been from the beginning with two officers. 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
None 
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
I recommend moving forward with the change to the stipend from $25.00 to $50.00. This will help 
the officers to continue with the plan that is in place. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move for the BOS to accept the change to the officer stipend going from $25.00 to $50.00 per 12-
hour period at the recommendation of Chief Matthew Conley. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION: 
Is there still a 24 hour stipend and is the intent for that to go to $100?   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None 
 

Page 60 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Detective Justin Gerome- Promotion 
to Sergeant-APD 

Department: Police Department 

Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact: Anthony Ciampoli  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Detective Justin Gerome will be promoted to the role of Sergeant on February 12, 2024 
after a comprehensive testing and selection process.  His new rate of pay will be Grade 
10/Step 4.  Please see the attached documentation for complete details. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
As Detective Gerome will be filling a vacant position which is currently budgeted at a 
higher rate of pay, that account will see a decrease. 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
NA 
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
I recommend that the Board accept the promotion of Justin Gerome Effective 2-12-24 
at the rate of $36.58 (10-4) and conduct a swearing-in ceremony at that meeting. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Move to accept the promotion of Detective Justin Gerome to the position of Patrol 
Sergeant effective 2-12-24 at a rate of $36.58 (10-4). 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION: 
Agree 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Gerome Promotion 
 

Page 61 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Kevin Kelly Promotion-APD Department: Police Department 
Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact: Anthony Ciampoli  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Senior Patrolman Kevin Kelly  will be promoted to the role of Sergeant on February 12, 
2024 after a comprehensive testing and selection process.  His new rate of pay will be 
$36.58 (Grade 10/Step 4).  Please see attached documentation for complete details 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
Position is currently budgeted for at a higher rate of pay, so account will see a decrease 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
NA 
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
I recommend that the Board accept Officer Kelly's promotion to the role of Sergeant 
effective 2-12-24 at Grade 10/ Step 4 which is $36.58. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Move to accept the promotion of Kevin Kelly to the role of Sergeant effective 2-12-24 
with a new pay rate of $36.58 (10-4) and conduct his swearing in on the same day. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION: 
Agree.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Kelly Promotion 
2. Kelly PAR 
 

Page 62 of 95



Page 63 of 95



Page 64 of 95



Page 65 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: New Hire-Kyle Cordero-APD Department: Police Department 
Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact: Anthony Ciampoli  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Kyle Cordero comes to the Amherst Police Department with a wealth of law 
enforcement experience having experience as a police officer in Norwood 
Massachusetts for 4 years as well as 9 years in the US Army where he reached the 
rank of Sergeant  and saw two combat deployments to Afghanistan.  When he moved 
to NH approximately 4.5 years ago, he left law enforcement to open his own 
construction company, KC Woodworks LLC.  He now seeks the return to law 
enforcement and as such has submitted a request to the NH Police Standards and 
Training Council seeking a waiver of academy based upon prior training and 
experience.  The PSTC rule governing waivers is that an individual would need to 
attend the academy when there is more than 36 months of separation.  He is obviously 
over that threshold, but has been granted an in-person review on January 23, 2024 to 
go before the Council.  If the Council denies the request, I have submitted and 
approved an application for the 196th Full-time Academy which commences on 2-12-
24.  Having both of these options ensures that he remains a viable candidate no matter 
the ruling.  As I seek an effective hiring date of February 5, it is not possible to 
determine with certainty his starting rate of pay until his certification status is 
detemined.  As such, I am proposing two pay rates to cover either scenario. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
NA 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
NA 
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
I recommend that the Board move to accept the hire of Kyle Cordero effective 2-5-24 at 
Grade 9/Step 1 which is $26.62.  In the event that the NH Police Standards and 
Training Council rules to accept his out-of-state certification, I would alternatively move 
to hire Mr. Cordero at Grade 9/Step 4 $30.10 effective 2-5-24. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Move to accept the hiring of Kyle Cordero to Full-Time Patrolman effective 2-12-24 with 
a pay rate of $26.62 (grade 9-step1) as an uncertified officer or $30.10 (grade9-step 4) 
if the NH Police Standards and Training Council accepts his certification waiver. 

Page 66 of 95



  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION: 
Agree. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Cordero 
 

Page 67 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Christine Fowler Resignation-APD Department: Police Department 
Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact: Anthony Ciampoli  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Dispatcher Christine Fowler announced on January 7 that she will be resigning from her 
position effective March 23, 2024 for personal reasons. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
NA 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
NA 
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
I recommend that the Board accept Christine Fowler's resignation effective March 23, 
2024. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Move to accept the resignation of Christine Fowler from the Amherst Communications 
Center effective March 23, 2024. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Fowler 
 

Page 68 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Noemi Goohs-Change of Status (FT-
PT)-APD 

Department: Police Department 

Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact: Anthony Ciampoli  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Amherst Communications Center Dispatcher Noemi Goohs has advised that she has 
accepted a full-time position with Milford Ambulance and will be resigning from her full-
time position here and seeking part-time status. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
NA 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
NA 
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
I recommend that the Board accept the resignation of Noemi Goohs from full-time 
employment with the Amherst Communications Center and change her status to part-
time. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Move to accept the resignation of Amherst Communications Center Dispatcher Noemi 
Goohs from full-time employment and change her status to part-time with the same pay 
rate of Grade 6/Step 7  of 
$26.17.                                                                                                                               
                                                                         
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION: 
Agree.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Goohs Resignation 
 

Page 69 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Assessing Department: Assessing 
Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Abatement Recommendations 
Item A. The property owners have appealed for the assessment of their property due to 
the condition of the building, which is uninhabitable and to tear down.  They believe the 
condition of the building is not sufficiently recognized in the assessment. 
 
The assessor made a complete inspection of the property and agrees with the 
taxpayers that this property is likely to be razed.  Therefore, the Assessor recommends 
granting this abatement request.  The 2023 assessed value will change from $340,300 
to $211,100, a difference of $129,200 which should be abated. 
 
Suggested Motion: The Assessor has inspected the property and recommends 
granting an abatement. Therefore, I move to approve the abatement in the amount of 
$2,827.00 for map 004, lot 121-000. 
 
Item A-1. The property owners have appealed for the assessment of their property due 
to an error adding a building to the property record that is not owned by them.  The 
abutting property (Walmart) has a sewage treatment building that was added to this 
property. 
 
The assessor has investigated this issue and corrected the listing record and removed 
the building in question from this property record and placed in on the proper property 
record. 
 
Suggested Motion: The Assessor has inspected the property and corresponding 
records and recommends granting abatement reducing the assessed value from 
$837,200 to $713,300. Therefore, I move to approve the abatement in the amount of 

Page 70 of 95



$2,711.00 (123.9 * 21.88) for map 002, lot 054-000. 
 
Item A-2. The reason for the abatement is merely a housekeeping effort.  This property 
was transferred to the town on July 25th, 2023.  As part of the purchase and sales 
agreement, the town agreed to abate the taxes. 
 
Suggested Motion: The assessor recommends granting the abatement as indicated in 
regard to an agreement between the town and the seller. Therefore, I move to approve 
the abatement of $292.00 for Map 006, Lot 009-000. 
 
Item A-3. The reason for the abatement is merely a housekeeping effort.  This property 
was transferred to the town on July 25th, 2023.  As part of the purchase and sales 
agreement, the town agreed to abate the taxes. 
 
Suggested motion, The assessor recommends granting the abatement as indicated in 
regard to an agreement between the town and the seller. Therefore, I move to approve 
the abatement of $2235.00 for Map 006, Lot 002-000.     
 
Item A-4. The reason for the abatement is merely a housekeeping effort. This property 
was transferred to the town. 
As part of the purchase and sales agreement, the town agreed to abate the taxes. 
 
Suggested motion, The assessor recommends granting the abatement as indicated in 
regard to an agreement between the town and the seller. Therefore, I move to approve 
the abatement of $82.00 for Map 005, Lot 159-001.     
 
Land Use Change Tax 
Item B. This is a Land Use Tax release for Map 004 Lot 122-002 which no longer 
qualifies for Current Use due to the development of a residential building.  Please be 
advised RSA 79-a:7 allows the municipalities to use the equalized assessed value as a 
basis for the land use change tax.  In this case the assessed value change for the 
additional acreage to be removed is $135000/.744= $181,500 (rounded). 
 
Suggested Motion:  The assessor has recommended releasing 2.0 acres of Map 004, 
Lot 122-002 from Current Use and issuing a Land Use Change tax in the amount of 
$18,150.00. Therefore, I move to accept the recommendation of the assessor and 
release the acreage of Map 004, Lot 122-002 from Current Use and issue the Land Use 
Change Tax in the amount of $18,150.00. 
 
Item B-1. This is a Land Use Change Tax release for Map 007 Lot 072 which no longer 
qualifies for Current Use due to development of a condominium complex.  Please be 
advised RSA 79-a:7 allows the municipalities to use the equalized assessed value as a 
basis for the land use change tax.  In this case, the assessed value of the property that 
represents an approved 18 unit condominium development of 31.316 acres is 
$912,500. In accordance with RSA 79-a:7, the equalized assessed value for this 
property is $912,500/.74=$1,233,100 rounded resulting in a land use change tax of 

Page 71 of 95



$123,310.00. 
 
Suggested Motion:  The assessor has recommended releasing 31.316 acres of Map 
007, Lot 072 from Current Use, issuing a Land Use Change tax in the amount of 
$123,310.00. Therefore, I move to accept the recommendation of the assessor and 
release the acreage of Map 007, Lot 072 from Current Use and issue the Land Use 
Change Tax in the amount of $123,310.00. 
 
Preliminary Equalization Ratio Study 2023 
Item C. I am sending you this memo regarding the preliminary results of the 2023 
equalization ratio study. The statistics are still acceptable. The median assessment to 
sale ratio is projected to be 74.4%.  This is the statistic used for equalizing abatements, 
telecom values, current use and utility values.  The weighted mean is 74.8%.  This is 
the statistic used to determine apportionment.  The coefficient of dispersion (COD) is 
projected to be 11%.  The Assessing Standards Board (ASB) indicates a COD of 20 or 
less is acceptable.  The price-related differential (PRD) is 1.02 which shows a slight 
bias to the higher valued properties in Amherst.  The acceptable range is .98-1.03 as 
the ASB has determined. 
 
The volume of sales has decreased year after year.  One example is in 2022 before the 
interest rate hikes there were 242 sales used for the ratio study compared to 181 sales 
in 2023.  Even though the volume of sales is down the values are up 3% since 
2022.  The median selling price in 2023 was $552,000.   
 
The final ratio study will be available in the first quarter of 2024. The attached sheet 
requires signatures from the Board of Assessors for the Department of Revenue to 
finalize the results. 
 
I hope this explanation was helpful. If you have any questions, do not hesitate to 
contact me. 
Todd Haywood, CNHA 
 
BTLA Settlement 
Item E. The attached BTLA Case Docket #30726-22PT had a settlement meeting 
between the taxpayer’s attorney and the town assessor Todd Haywood, RES, CNHA 
on December 18, 2023, as ordered by the BTLA.  This was an effort to effectively 
manage the BTLA’s docket with the hope that there can be settlement of this matter 
prior to the scheduling of the hearing.  The taxpayer supplied an appraisal completed 
by Gregory T. Curtis, MAI with Newmark Valuation and Advisory of Boston, MA, with a 
market value conclusion of $14,400,000 as of April 1, 2022.  The taxpayer, by its 
attorney has agreed to settle this matter if the parties agree to a market value that 
exceeds the value of their appraisal.  The negotiated market value for this case is 
$15,500,000 for the 2022 and 2023 tax years. 
 
The main reason for the taxpayer’s appeal is due to the rapid change in equalization 
ratio from 94.7% in 2021 to 80% in 2022. If we apply the 2022 equalization ratio of 80% 

Page 72 of 95



to the proposed $15,500,000 appraisal, it would result in an assessed value of 
$12,400,000.  Using the same methodology for 2023, the projected 2023 ratio of 74% 
would indicate a market value of $16,700,000 (12,400,000/.74) which is nearly $2 
million greater than the taxpayer’s 2022 appraised value of $14,400,000. 
 
The taxpayer further agrees not to appeal this property until there is another town-wide 
reassessment or the annual equalization ratio drops below 70%. 
.                       
Suggested Motion: Grant 
The Assessor recommends accepting the settlement assessment of $12,400,000 for 
2022 and 2023 tax years as stated in the memo and grant an abatement of $65,503.00 
for 2022 and $67,828.00 for 2023. Therefore, I move to accept the settlement and grant 
the abatement as stated on Map 002, Lot 066-001. 
 
Suggested Motion: Deny 
 Therefore, I move to deny the recommended settlement from the Assessor, and deny 
the settlement for Map 002, Lot 066-001. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Item A Confidential 
2. Item A-1 Confidential 
3. Item A-2 Confidential 
4. Item A-3 Confidential 
5. Item A-4 Confidential 
6. Item B Confidential 
7. Item B-1 Confidential 

Page 73 of 95



8. Item C Confidential 
9. Item E Confidential 
 

Page 74 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: AP, payroll and minutes Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: January 22, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
   Payroll 
       PR1~ I move to approve one (1) Payroll Manifest in the amount of $254,249.74 
dated January 11, 2024, subject to review and audit. 
  
      Accounts Payable 
  
    AP1 ~ I move to approve one (1) Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$22,198.50 dated December 31, 2023, subject to review and audit. (NH DMV) 
  
    AP2 ~ I move to approve one (1) Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$3,789.37 dated January 5, 2024, subject to review and audit. (Vendors) 
 
   AP3 ~ I move to approve one (1) Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$3,176,201.00 dated January 8, 2024, subject to review and audit. (Vendors) 
 
     AP4 ~ I move to approve one (1) Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$179,182.55 dated January 18, 2024, subject to review and audit. (Vendors) 
  
  
    Minutes 
     ~ I move to approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of December 29, 
2023. 
     ~ I move to approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of  January 8, 2024. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  

Page 75 of 95



 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 2023.12.29 BOS_DRAFT - WRS Tracked Changes 
2. 2024.01.08 BOS_DRAFT - WRS Tracked Changes 
 

Page 76 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES

Barbara Landry Meeting Room
2 Main Street

Friday, December 29, 2023, 4:00PM

1 Attendees: Chairman Peter Lyon, Selectman Bill Stoughton, Selectman John D’Angelo, 
2 Selectman Danielle Pray, and Selectman Tom Grella
3
4 1. Call to Order
5 Chairman Peter Lyon called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m. 
6
7 2. Pledge of Allegiance – led by Chairman Lyon.
8
9 3. Citizen’s Forum

10
11 None at this time.
12
13 4. Administration 
14 4.1. FY25 Town Operating Budget Draft #5, with FY25 Revenue, FY25 BLCS 
15 Operating Budget, and FY25 Default Budget
16
17 Debbie Bender, Finance Director, reviewed draft #5 of the FY25 budget with the Board. She 
18 explained that the expense budget has not changed from the previous draft. Regarding the 
19 revenue budget, the default budget is approximately $16,668,750. This is an increase over the 
20 FY24 adopted budget of $778,840 and a decrease from the FY25 proposed budget of 
21 $631,030. She reviewed a few reductions made in this draft. 
22
23 There was discussion regarding removing funding from the Fire Protective Clothing line item 
24 and Breathing Apparatus line item in order to make up for a proposed increase in the 42-15 
25 line item for call firefighters.
26
27 The Board discussed that the proposed $20,000 funding for multimodal items has been 
28 removed from the DPW’s budget completely. 
29
30 Selectman Stoughton stated that he is okay with the proposed increase in the call firefighter 
31 wage line but has concerns regarding reducing other Fire Department line items to cover this. 
32 Regarding the multimodal funds for a proposed bridge, he has not heard enough information 
33 on this item in order to approve funding for a $100,000 bridge that leads nowhere. He would 
34 like to hear a full estimate and proposal for this, along with why the funding it needed now.
35
36 Selectman D’Angelo noted that the Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory Committee originally 
37 requested $35,000 for this project. The Board reduced that to $20,000 and is now proposing 
38 $0 in funding. The Board has never placed any money into the budget in order to support the 

Page 77 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2023.12.29

PAGE 2 OF 5

39 Committee with its charge. He agreed that more information on the bridge is needed, but if no 
40 money is placed into the budget for this line item, the Committee will not be able to present a 
41 requested expenditure for it in the future.
42
43 Selectman Pray explained that the $20,000 request was for a 20% march for a grant 
44 application of the Committee’s. She is unclear why the request is needed this year specifically 
45 and is not inclined to support the budget item without more information. The Committee 
46 could choose to apply to this grant in a later year.
47
48 Eric Slosek, DPW Director, explained that the Committee is proposing to apply for an RTP 
49 grant, which is available annually. 
50
51 Town Administrator Shankle noted that he received a call today regarding a private donation 
52 toward the grant application matching amount.
53
54 Chris Buchanan, Chair of the Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory Committee, explained that the 
55 proposed bridge has a 40’ span. While the bridge would accommodate the weight of an 
56 ambulance, it is the necessary width of the bridge and type of material to be built from, that 
57 allow this to occur. He consulted with the Amherst Conservation Commission, who stated that 
58 the bridge could not be built without professional intervention due to its width. The 
59 Committee used a referral from DPW to consult a bridge maker in order to receive a quote. 
60 He noted that the grant funds 80% of the project. The Committee has $10,000 of the matching 
61 funds committed and is seeking the gap amount through budget funding. 
62
63 The Board took a straw poll regarding placing $10,000 in the budget for the grant match in 
64 order to construct a bridge. Selectman D’Angelo was in favor; all else were against.
65
66 The Board discussed cutting funds from the Fire Protective Clothing line item and Breathing 
67 Apparatus line item in order to make up for a proposed increase in the 42-15 line item for call 
68 firefighters and decided against making those cuts.
69
70 Selectman D’Angelo noted federal government has just given the Armed Forces a 5.2% 
71 COLA, as well as the civilian federal workforce, a 5.2% COLA. The Town is offering a 3.5% 
72 COLA and shortchanged the workforce by 1% on the COLA last year. He asked if there is 
73 any interest in increasing the proposed 3.5% COLA to 4.5%. Selectman Stoughton stated that 
74 it is a 3.5% COLA and a 2% step increase, leading to a 5.5% increase in pay. Selectman 
75 D'Angelo asked if a step increase is being considered as a substitute for a COLA. Selectman 
76 Stoughton stated that the Town has been very aggressive this year at increasing pay to make it 
77 competitive with surrounding towns. He does not believe that the Town is shortchanging its 
78 workforce and instead revamping the step system starting January 1st to allow for an increase. 
79 He stated that it does not matter which labels are placed on the step increases and COLA, in 
80 the end it is still a 5.5% increase. There was no interest on behalf of the other Board members 
81 to consider an increased COLA amount at this time.
82
83 Debbie Bender discussed the changes made to the revenue side of the budget. The Meals & 
84 Rooms Tax increased from $850,000 to $900,000. This seems to be a reasonable forecast. The 

Page 78 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2023.12.29

PAGE 3 OF 5

85 landfill revenue saw an increase of approximately $5,600. The interest on investments for 
86 FY25 is projected at $365,000. 
87
88 Chairman Lyon noted that the Baboosic Lake Community Septic System Enterprise Fund, 
89 though it does not involve tax dollars, needs to be included on the warrant. Debbie Bender 
90 agreed. She noted that this budget was increase significantly this year and the DPW is 
91 currently working on the calculation.
92
93 4.2. Warrant Articles
94
95 The Board discussed the proposed warrant articles. 
96
97 Regarding the Police Union contract, the tentative agreement is an increase of 16% for 
98 patrolmen and 15% for sergeants in the first year, a 4% increase for all in the second year, and 
99 a 3% increase for all in the third year. Debbie Bender noted that it is unclear as to how many 

100 in the Union will stay with the existing health plan and what the buyback will then cost. 
101
102 Town Administrator Shankle explained that, during negotiations, facts were presented that, 
103 without the proposed 16%/15% increase in the first year, Amherst will not be able to keep up 
104 with neighboring towns. Without this increase, an officer could leave for a different town and 
105 get a raise of somewhere between $10,000-$12,000. The Department has gone from hundreds 
106 of applicants for positions in past years, to handfuls of applicants. This is an important step to 
107 fairly compensate the Town’s officers. Chairman Lyon noted that the Union is also coming 
108 off a four-year contract that saw a 2% COLA each year. Town Administrator Shankle noted 
109 that one side or the other likely should have considered renegotiating that contract.
110
111 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 
112 approve the tentative collective bargaining agreement reached between negotiators for the 
113 Town and the Amherst Police Department Employees, AFSCME Local 3657, which covers the 
114 period between July 1, 2024, through June 30, 2027, subject to Town Meeting approval of a 
115 warrant article to approve the cost items in said agreement.
116 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
117
118 The Board discussed the proposed stormwater planning loan warrant article. Eric Slosek 
119 explained that it would be a great benefit to the Town to place this item on the warrant this 
120 year. If this is delayed, certain MS4 projects will likely also be delayed. If the Board agrees to 
121 place this on the warrant, it is still in complete control of the loan and expending the funds, if 
122 received. There is no risk to putting this on the warrant. Chairman Lyon noted that, if placed 
123 on the warrant, the Town will have to raise and appropriate funds for the loan, as the language 
124 is currently written. The existing language seeks to raise and appropriate the funds necessary 
125 for the entire value of the loan. This funding will need to be raised from taxes, even if it is not 
126 necessarily spent. Joe Jordan, Assistant DPW Director, explained that, if this item is not 
127 placed on the warrant this year, the Town’s loan application will not be considered. Debbie 
128 Bender noted that the language for this article has not yet gone before Town Counsel or the 
129 DRA. Staff agreed to continue to work on the language for this article and determine if a 
130 separate public hearing is needed to place it on the warrant.
131

Page 79 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2023.12.29

PAGE 4 OF 5

132 Chairman Lyon explained that Town Counsel agreed that there could be a non-binding 
133 referendum article to get a sense of the voters regarding the potential rail trail project with a 
134 match from the State as part of its 10-Year Plan. Depending on the outcome of this article, it 
135 would then be up to the Town to fund the match amount. Selectman Stoughton stated that he 
136 would like to make sure the language in the Voter’s Guide for this is clear that funding will be 
137 needed for a match up to $336,000 as the Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory Committee is also 
138 trying to raise funds through private donations.
139
140 Tom Silvia made a presentation to the Board. He explained that the Board is currently 
141 reviewing a budget with an 8.9% increase over last year’s budget. He noted that the beginning 
142 budget amount and the assumption that this number was correct could be an issue to review. 
143 He compared Amherst to other local municipalities. Regarding the overall town tax amount, 
144 the amount that taxpayers are asked to pay for a municipal expenditures seems to have a high 
145 correlation to the population of the town. The average sized town in New Hampshire contains 
146 5,900 people with a budget of roughly $6M, leading to a per capita cost of $1,054. Amherst is 
147 only spending $854 per capita. This reflects all of the work that people have done over the 
148 decades to watch the Town’s budgetary costs. Amherst's budget is close to $2.4M higher than 
149 the average town budget in New Hampshire. Citizens of Amherst from a fiscal perspective are 
150 paying below average municipal taxes. Regarding the per capita tax rate versus the appraised 
151 values of a town, Amherst is in a tremendous position. The average valuation for a tax 
152 calculation purpose in New Hampshire is $1.1B and Amherst is at $2.4B. Amherst is in the 
153 90th percentile of towns in terms of value of the geography of the town. Amherst has a tax 
154 base with a lot of wealth in its valuation. Regarding median household income, Amherst has 
155 the third highest median household income in New Hampshire. Amherst’s median income is 
156 $127,000, 75% higher than the average median income of $72,000 in the State. The actual 
157 wealth of the citizens of a town. does not influence the taxes they pay. There is actually a 
158 slight negative correlation. The tax rates in Amherst are relatively low and its citizens seem to 
159 be able to afford to pay more. He noted that these are all averages and do not represent all 
160 citizens of Amherst.
161
162 Tom Silvia stated that he reviewed the change in the tax amount in Town from 2000 through 
163 2022 versus inflation. Over the last couple of years, the data shows that the Town has had 
164 trouble keeping up with inflation. The Town is currently approximately 15% behind the 
165 inflation rate over the last ten years, representing approximately $1.5M. This may partially be 
166 a reason that the Town feels it is trying to play catch up this year with the budget. The Town 
167 budget has outpaced inflation. Since the beginning of 2000, the Town budget is 76% higher 
168 than inflation. In reviewing all of this data, he believes that an 8.9% increase in the budget for 
169 FY25 is appropriate.
170
171 The Board discussed the proposed allocation from the unassigned fund balance. Selectman 
172 Stoughton stated that an allocation of $750,000 would lead to a 7.3% unassigned fund balance 
173 for next year. He stated that he would not recommend increasing this amount to $800,000-
174 $850,000 at this time. Selectman Pray agreed with leaving the allocation at $750,000 at this 
175 time. 
176
177 Diane Layton, Ways & Means Committee, asked if there are mechanisms to communicate the 
178 views of the School District budget to the Board of Selectmen. Chairman Lyon stated that this 

Page 80 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2023.12.29

PAGE 5 OF 5

179 has not been done in the past. Selectman Stoughton stated that the School Boards are also 
180 responsible to the voters and the taxpayers should hear directly from them.
181
182 5. Adjournment 
183
184 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Stoughton to 
185 adjourn the meeting at 5:38pm.
186 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
187
188 NEXT MEETING: January 8, 2023
189  
190 _________________________      __________________
191 Selectman Bill Stoughton Date

Page 81 of 95



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES

Barbara Landry Meeting Room
2 Main Street

Monday, January 8, 2024, 6:30PM

1 Attendees: Chairman Peter Lyon, Selectman Bill Stoughton, Selectman John D’Angelo, 
2 Selectman Danielle Pray, and Selectman Tom Grella (remote)
3
4 1. Call to Order
5 Chairman Peter Lyon called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 
6
7 2. Pledge of Allegiance – led by Selectman Pray.
8
9 3. Citizen’s Forum

10 None at this time.
11
12 4. Public Budget Hearing: Pursuant to New Hampshire RSA 32:5, I, the Amherst 
13 Board of Selectmen hereby announces to the citizens of Amherst the convening 
14 of a Public Hearing to take input on the proposed FY25 Town Operating 
15 Budget, bonds and notes, and proposed warrant articles.
16
17 4.1. 2024 Warrant, FY25 Proposed Operating Budget, FY25 Revenue, FY25 
18 Baboosic Lake Community Septic Operating Budget, and the FY25 Default 
19 Budget
20
21 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to enter 
22 into a Public Hearing Pursuant to RSA 32:5, I, regarding the Town Operating Budget, bond 
23 and notes, and proposed Warrant Articles.
24 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
25 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
26
27 Chairman Lyon read Warrant Article 21 into the record: 
28
29 ARTICLE 21: To choose all necessary Town Officers for the ensuing terms as follows:
30 2 Selectmen for 3 Years
31 1 Town Moderator for 2 Years
32 1 Cemetery Trustee for 3 Years
33 1 Trustee of the Trust Funds for 3 Years
34 2 Zoning Board of Adjustment Members for 3 Years
35 2 Planning Board Members for 3 Years
36 2 Library Trustees for 3 Years
37 1 Supervisor of the Checklist
38

Page 82 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.01.08

PAGE 2 OF 14

39 Chairman Lyon read Warrant Article 22 into the record:
40
41 ARTICLE 22: Operating Budget
42 Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate as an operating budget, not including 
43 appropriations by special warrant articles and other appropriations voted separately, the 
44 amounts set forth on the budget posted with the warrant or as amended by vote of the first 
45 session, for the purposes set forth herein, totaling $17,299,780. Should this article be defeated 
46 the default budget shall be $16,471,990 which is the same as last year with certain 
47 adjustments required by previous action of the Town or by law; or the governing body may 
48 hold one special meeting in accordance with RSA 40:13 X and XVI to take up the issue of a 
49 revised operating budget only. This operating budget warrant article does not include 
50 appropriations contained in any other warrant article. (Tax Impact =$4.41) (Majority vote 
51 required)
52
53 Andrew Pataky, Ways & Means Committee, asked about the $40,000 proposed to be removed 
54 from the Fire Department Equipment warrant article. Chairman Lyon explained that Board 
55 members sat with the Fire Chief and reviewed the vehicle and equipment repair/replacement 
56 spreadsheet. It was determined that the originally proposed $257,000 would be adequate to 
57 handle future items, aside from the tower truck, at this time. 
58
59 Selectman D’Angelo read Warrant Article 23 into the record.
60
61 ARTICLE 23: Contingency Fund
62 Shall the Town vote to establish a contingency fund for the current year, in accordance with 
63 NH RSA Section 31:98-a, for unanticipated expenses that may arise and further to raise and 
64 appropriate the sum of one hundred twenty thousand dollars ($120,000) to go into the fund. 
65 Said sum shall come from the unassigned fund balance and no amount to be raised from 
66 taxation. Any appropriation left in the fund at the end of the year will lapse to the general 
67 fund. (Tax Impact = $0.00) (Majority vote required)
68
69 Selectman D’Angelo read Warrant Article 24 into the record.
70
71 ARTICLE 24: Baboosic Lake Septic Operating Budget
72 Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $104,200, for operating and 
73 maintaining the Baboosic Lake Septic System for the ensuing year, said sum is to be offset by 
74 user fees. Should this article be defeated the default budget shall be $69,040, which is the 
75 same as last year with certain adjustments required by previous action of the Town or by law. 
76 (Tax Impact = $0.00) (Majority vote required)
77
78 Selectman D’Angelo read Warrant Article 25 into the record.
79
80 ARTICLE 25: Communications Center Capital Reserve Fund
81 Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of forty thousand dollars ($40,000) to 
82 be added to the Communications Center Capital Reserve Fund, previously established. (Tax 
83 Impact = $0.02) (Majority vote required)
84
85 Selectman D’Angelo read Warrant Article 26 into the record.

Page 83 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.01.08

PAGE 3 OF 14

86
87 ARTICLE 26: Assessing Revaluation Capital Reserve Fund
88 Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of twenty-five thousand dollars 
89 ($25,000) to be added to the Assessing Revaluation Capital Reserve Fund, previously 
90 established. (Tax Impact = $0.01) (Majority vote required)
91
92 Selectman Stoughton read Warrant Article 27 into the record.
93
94 ARTICLE 27: Bridge Repair and Replacement Capital Reserve Fund
95 Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of two hundred fifty thousand dollars 
96 ($250,000) to be added to the Bridge Repair and Replacement Capital Reserve Fund, 
97 previously established. (Tax Impact = $0.10) (Majority vote required)
98
99 Selectman Stoughton explained that the Board believed it to be prudent to increase this CRF 

100 by $50,000 this year, in order to address additional work on Town bridges that may not be 
101 covered by the State but still need to be worked on.
102
103 Selectman Stoughton read Warrant Article 28 into the record.
104
105 ARTICLE 28: Fire Rescue Vehicle and Equipment Purchase and Repair Capital 
106 Reserve Fund
107 Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of two hundred fifty-seven thousand 
108 dollars ($257,000) to be added to the Fire Rescue Vehicle and Equipment Purchase and 
109 Repair Capital Reserve Fund, previously established. (Tax Impact = $0.11) (Majority vote 
110 required)
111
112 Selectman Stoughton explained that the Board originally believed that this CRF would need to 
113 be increased to $297,000. Board members sat with the Fire Chief to review every capital 
114 vehicle and equipment maintenance/repair/replacement item for the next 40 years but focusing 
115 heavily on the upcoming ten years to obtain a new baseline. A replacement tower truck, 
116 estimated at $1.75M cannot be covered by the existing CRF as it is currently being funded. 
117 This funding could be borrowed through other means, but the Board decided to first have a 
118 thorough inspection of the existing tower truck completed to determine if it could be 
119 refurbished instead of replaced. This inspection will be completed over the next year and 
120 funded through the existing CRF. There is enough money in the CRF to fund this inspection 
121 and other non-tower truck purchases for the next number of years. There is a lead time of 
122 approximately two years for a replacement tower truck.
123
124 Selectman Stoughton read Warrant Article 29 into the record.
125
126 ARTICLE 29: DPW Vehicles and Equipment Acquisition and Replacement Capital 
127 Reserve Fund
128 Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of one hundred twenty thousand dollars 
129 ($120,000) to be added to the DPW Vehicles and Equipment Acquisition and Replacement 
130 Capital Reserve Fund, previously established. (Tax Impact = $0.05) (Majority vote required)
131

Page 84 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.01.08

PAGE 4 OF 14

132 Selectman Stoughton explained that the Town spends approximately $180,000 each year in 
133 the budget for this equipment. The $120,000 CRF was established to deal with any peaks and 
134 valleys of needed funding. Due to inflation, the Board will need to consider increasing this 
135 CRF and the budget for this equipment next year. He noted that the Board has asked all 
136 Department Heads to move their equipment spreadsheet review up into the Strategic Plan 
137 process.
138
139 Selectman Pray read Warrant Article 30 into the record.
140
141 ARTICLE 30: Amherst Multimodal Facilities Capital Reserve Fund
142 Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of seventy-five thousand dollars 
143 ($75,000) to be added to the Amherst Multimodal Facilities Capital Reserve Fund, previously 
144 established. (Tax Impact = $0.03) (Majority vote required)
145
146 Selectman Pray read Warrant Article 31 into the record.
147
148 ARTICLE 31: Police Union Contract
149 Shall the Town vote to approve the cost items in a three (3) year collective bargaining 
150 agreement (beginning July 1, 2024 through June 30, 2027) reached between the Board of 
151 Selectmen and the American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees Local 
152 3657 (Police Union) and further to raise and appropriate the sum of, two hundred thirty-eight 
153 thousand nine hundred dollars ($238,900) for the First Year FY25, such sum representing the 
154 additional costs attributable to the increase in salaries and benefits over those of the current 
155 appropriation. Increase in Year Two (2) FY26 $71,100 and Year Three (3) FY27 $55,500.
156 (Tax Impact: Year 1 $0.09)
157 (Tax Impact: Year 2 $0.03)
158 (Tax Impact: Year 3 $0.02)
159 (Majority vote required)
160
161 Selectman Pray explained that the previous Union contract only included a 2% COLA over 
162 the years and this new contract looks to try to offset this into the future. The Town needs to be 
163 able to hire new officers and keep its existing ones. This contract should put the Town in a 
164 better position and gives existing employees the money they deserve. 
165
166 Selectman Pray read Warrant Article 32 into the record.
167
168 ARTICLE 32: Special Meeting for Defeated/Amended Collective Bargaining Agreement
169 Shall the town, if Article #31 is defeated, authorize the governing body to call one special 
170 meeting, at its option, to address Article #31 cost items only? (This article has no tax impact.) 
171 (Majority vote required)
172
173 Chairman Lyon explained that, if Article 31 fails, the Town will go back to the negotiating 
174 table with the Union to try to agree on a new contract. This new contract would then be 
175 brought to a Special Meeting for a vote.
176
177 Selectman Stoughton read Warrant Article 33 into the record.
178

Page 85 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.01.08

PAGE 5 OF 14

179 ARTICLE 33: Community Power
180 Shall the Town vote to adopt the Amherst Community Power Plan, which authorizes the 
181 Board of Selectmen to develop and implement Amherst Community Power as described 
182 therein (pursuant to RSA 53-E:7). (No Tax impact) (Majority vote required)
183
184 Selectman Stoughton explained that over 50 towns in the State have developed community 
185 power plans to try to obtain cheaper electric rates than currently offered by Eversource. These 
186 include consumer protections, as there is no fee to get into or out of the plan. The idea is to 
187 pool the electricity usage of the Town in order to convince suppliers to give the Town a better 
188 rate. The cost is borne by those who enter the program. The program will not be launched 
189 unless a cheaper rate than the current Eversource rate at that time can be obtained.
190
191 Chairman Lyon read Warrant Article 34 into the record.
192
193 ARTICLE 34: Stormwater Planning CWSRF Loan
194 Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of one hundred thousand dollars 
195 ($100,000) (gross budget) for the purpose of stormwater planning work relative to 
196 management of the municipal storm drain system in accordance with the 2017 NH Small MS4 
197 General Permit (“the Project”), and to authorize the issuance of not more than $100,000 of 
198 bonds or notes in accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Finance Act (RSA 33, as 
199 amended); to authorize the Board of Selectmen to issue and negotiate such bonds or notes and 
200 to determine the date, maturities, interest rate, and other details of such bonds or note: and to 
201 authorize the Board of Selectmen to apply for, accept, and expend any federal, state, or 
202 private funds that may become available in respect of the Project to reduce the amount that 
203 must be bonded or to pay debt service on such bonds or notes including but not limited to a 
204 Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF) loan? The Town anticipates that repayment of 
205 the CWSRF loan may include up to 100% principal forgiveness. (No Tax impact) (Majority 
206 vote required).
207
208 DPW Director, Eric Slosek, explained that this loan application needs to be submitted by the 
209 Town in June. The Town will be notified if it will be awarded the loan in August/September. 
210 He spoke with an engineer who noted that in New Hampshire most loans are granted 100% 
211 forgiveness of up to $100,000. An appropriation is requested through this Article, but this 
212 does not obligate the Board to then apply for the loan funding. There will be no tax impact 
213 until the loan is awarded and the Board makes a final decision to accept the funds. 
214
215 Chairman Lyon noted that Town Counsel has stated that this item does not require a separate 
216 public hearing process, as the request is not for more than $100,000. Town Counsel also 
217 reviewed the Article language and believes it is sufficient. 
218
219 Finance Director, Debbie Bender, explained that the proposed tax impact is $0 due to the fact 
220 that the $100,000 expense applied for will be covered by the bond revenue. There will be a tax 
221 impact next year, as the Town begins to pay back the bond. 
222
223 Selectman Stoughton stated that he would like more information about this item prior to the 
224 Deliberative Session in order to explain this to the voters. He explained that this funding is to 
225 be used for planning only.

Page 86 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.01.08

PAGE 6 OF 14

226
227 In response to a question from Selectman Stoughton, DPW Director Slosek explained that this 
228 $100,000 is not intended to replace funds in the budget for the MS-4 items. The DPW 
229 originally proposed a higher budget for this line item, which the Board decided to reduce. This 
230 funding would be used to supplement that amount. There is more work needed than the 
231 phosphorus control plan in order to bring the Town into MS-4 compliance.
232
233 Selectman Stoughton noted that Merrimack applied for and was granted this loan and used it 
234 for a Baboosic Lake Drainage Study. He suggested that the DPW speak with Merrimack 
235 regarding the process in order to detail this experience to the voters.
236
237 Selectman D’Angelo explained that the DPW originally requested $362,000 in the budget to 
238 handle MS-4 and stormwater items. The Board decided to reduce this by $250,000. This loan 
239 is being proposed to offset that shortfall. This may allow for additional planning work in the 
240 first year to try to meet the State requirements. He would like to know if there are any caveats 
241 on this loan. 
242
243 In response to a question from Selectman Pray, DPW Director Slosek noted that there are 
244 approximately $800,000 or more in looming fees for MS-4 compliance. Selectman Pray stated 
245 that she is okay with applying for this loan but would like to see specific plans for the funds if 
246 awarded.
247
248 Chairman Lyon read Warrant Article 35 
249
250 ARTICLE 35: Rail Trail Referendum
251 To see if the town is in favor, in the future, of raising and appropriating the total amount of 
252 $336,000 over three successive fiscal years (2026, 2027, and 2028) to serve as the required 
253 match for a New Hampshire Department Of Transportation grant for a new rail trail to be 
254 located from Baboosic Lake Road to Walnut Hill Road with construction to begin in 2027 and 
255 expected completion in 2029. The DOT grant requires a 20% match from the Town; the DOT 
256 is offering to provide a grant in the amount of $1.346M. If supported by the voters, the Board 
257 of Selectmen will enter into an agreement with DOT and will come back to the voters with a 
258 request for funding at a future town meeting. (Advisory only) (No Tax impact) (Majority vote 
259 required). into the record.
260
261 Wendy Rannenberg, Ways & Means, noted that the language shown on the screen during the 
262 meeting does not match that in the written warrant. 
263
264 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
265 amend Article 35 to read “up to $336,000” and to include either “NH” or “New Hampshire” 
266 before each mention of DOT, and to replace this language in the printed version of the 
267 Warrant.
268 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
269 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
270
271 The Board took votes on support for each Warrant Article and moving it forward to the 
272 Deliberative Session.

Page 87 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.01.08

PAGE 7 OF 14

273
274 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 22.
275 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
276 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
277
278 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 22 to Deliberative Session .
279 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
280 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
281
282 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 23.
283 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
284 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
285
286 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 23 to Deliberative Session .
287 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
288 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
289
290 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 24.
291 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
292 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
293
294 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 24 to Deliberative Session .
295 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
296 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
297
298 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 25.
299 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
300 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
301
302 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 25 to Deliberative Session .
303 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
304 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
305
306 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 26.
307 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
308 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
309
310 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 26 to Deliberative Session .
311 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
312 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
313
314 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 27.
315 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
316 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
317
318 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 27 to Deliberative Session .
319 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 

Page 88 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.01.08

PAGE 8 OF 14

320 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
321
322 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 28.
323 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
324 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
325
326 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 28 to Deliberative Session .
327 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
328 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
329
330 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 29.
331 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
332 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
333
334 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 29 to Deliberative Session .
335 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
336 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
337
338 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 30.
339 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
340 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
341
342 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 30 to Deliberative Session .
343 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
344 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
345
346 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 31.
347 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
348 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
349
350 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 31 to Deliberative Session .
351 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
352 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
353
354 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 32.
355 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
356 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
357
358 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 32 to Deliberative Session .
359 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
360 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
361
362 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 33.
363 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
364 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
365
366 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 33 to Deliberative Session .

Page 89 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.01.08

PAGE 9 OF 14

367 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
368 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
369
370 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 34.
371 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
372 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
373
374 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 34 to Deliberative Session .
375 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
376 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
377
378 The Board voted to support Warrant Article 35.
379 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
380 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
381
382 The Board voted to move Warrant Article 35 to Deliberative Session .
383 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
384 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
385
386 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to exit the 
387 Public Hearing.
388 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
389 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
390
391 5. Administration 
392 5.1. Public Hearing, pursuant to New Hampshire RSA 41:14-a, Acquisition or
393 Sale of Land, Buildings, or Both; Demolition or Disposal of Buildings.
394
395 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Stoughton to 
396 enter into a Public Hearing pursuant to New Hampshire RSA 41:14-a.
397 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
398 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
399
400 Chairman Lyon explained that the sale of Map Lot 25-28 is being proposed in order to settle a 
401 claim of alleged trespass regarding a leak in the Baboosic Lake Community Septic System 
402 onto a property. The Board has worked to close this claim and resolve it by selling Lot 25-28 
403 to the Houveners. This property is 0.11 acres and has an assessed value of $1,100. If 
404 approved, this property will be sold to the Houveners for the assessed value. The Planning 
405 Board, Conservation Commission, and Heritage Commission have all reviewed this proposal 
406 and recommended moving forward with it.
407
408 There was no public comment at this time.
409
410 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Stoughton to 
411 close the Public Hearing.
412 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
413 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.

Page 90 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.01.08

PAGE 10 OF 14

414
415 Chairman Lyon noted that the Board will hold another public hearing on this item on January 
416 22nd and then vote on it.
417
418 Chairman Lyon explained that the next item deals with three easements at 248 Boston Post 
419 Road. One of these is a temporary trail access easement, another is a trail easement, and the 
420 third is a drainage easement. This deals with Map Lots 3-60-2 and 3-60-3.
421
422 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to enter 
423 into a Public Hearing pursuant to New Hampshire RSA 41:14-a.
424 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
425 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
426
427 There was no public comment at this time.
428
429 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to close 
430 the Public Hearing.
431 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
432 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
433
434 Chairman Lyon noted that the Board will hold another public hearing on this item on January 
435 22nd and then vote on it.
436
437 5.2. Public Hearing, pursuant to RSA 31:95-b: III (a), for unanticipated moneys
438 in the amount of $10,000 or more
439
440 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to enter 
441 into a Public Hearing pursuant to RSA 31:95-b: III (a).
442 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
443 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
444
445 Chairman Lyon explained that this item deals with unanticipated revenue from the New 
446 Hampshire Department of Safety for body worn cameras. This is in the amount of $15,194.08. 
447 This is a partial reimbursement for the Town's body worn cameras. Secondly, there is an 
448 additional amount of unexpected bridge aid money coming from New Hampshire DOT in the 
449 amount of $71,975.65.
450
451 There was no public comment at this time.
452
453 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to close 
454 the Public Hearing.
455 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
456 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
457
458 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
459 accept and expend the additional unanticipated revenue of $15,194.08
460 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 

Page 91 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.01.08

PAGE 11 OF 14

461 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
462
463 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
464 accept and expend the additional unanticipated bridge aid revenue of $71,975.65.
465 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
466 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
467
468 5.3. Public Hearing, pursuant to RSA 31:95-b: III (a), for unanticipated moneys
469 in the amount of $10,000 or more
470
471 This item was previously addressed.
472
473 5.4. Administrative Updates
474
475 Town Administrator Shankle explained that, regarding the Houvener item, a second parcel at 
476 32 West Street was obtained via a quit claim deed which was received from Town Counsel 
477 today. This is for the sale of Lot 25-29 for $2,750. On the advice of Town Counsel, this item 
478 was to be addressed separately from the other Lot. The release has been signed and executed 
479 by the Houveners.  [Editor’s note:  Following the adjournment of the meeting, Town 
480 Administrator Shankle noted he was mistaken in that the agreement anticipates signature of 
481 the release upon completion of the real estate transfers.]
482
483 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
484 sell Lot 25-29 for the sum of $2,750 to the Houveners pursuant to the deed and execution of 
485 that deed.
486 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
487 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
488
489 Town Administrator Shankle explained that Sanborn Head has quoted $10,400 for a workplan 
490 presentation and scope of services for the proposed work at the Fire Station to deal with 
491 remediation of the PFAS issue there. A draft workplan will be submitted to the Board 4-5 
492 weeks after approval. The funding source for this will likely be ARPA. Sanborn Head has 
493 estimated that the remediation of the site may cost approximately $500,000-$1M. 
494
495 In response to a question from Selectman Stoughton, Town Administrator Shankle explained 
496 that this is different from Sanborn Head’s original task, as when the groundwater was tested 
497 on the site it was determined that it was a larger problem than originally anticipated and 
498 would require additional analysis, per the State.
499
500 Town Administrator Shankle explained that the Houveners would like to start work on the 
501 parcels they own but, as the Town still owns some of these until the paperwork is complete, 
502 the Houveners need the Town’s signature as a co-applicant for shoreland work.
503
504 Bob Houvener explained that the DES application for work within the shoreland requires the 
505 Town to cosign, due to the delay in the 41:14 process. Any work within 250’ of the Lake 
506 requires a permit from DES. The intention is to raze the existing building, remove all 
507 contaminated soil, and rebuild a new house. This work has all been approved at the Town 

Page 92 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.01.08

PAGE 12 OF 14

508 level. All of the lots have been consolidated, per Town Counsel’s recommendation. There will 
509 be no physical changes to the currently owned Town lot during this work. After the sale is 
510 complete, a form will be mailed to DES, removing the Town’s name as a co-applicant on this 
511 permit.
512
513 Selectman Pray recused herself from the vote on this item.
514
515 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
516 authorize the Town Administrator to execute a Shoreland Permit application with the 
517 Houveners with respect to Lots 25-28 and 25-29, expressly reserving the Town's judgment as 
518 to the merits of such application, and contingent on Town Counsel’s agreement to the 
519 language.
520 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
521 4-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
522
523 5.5. BOS Action Items as of 12-29-23
524
525 The Board reviewed its action items.
526
527 6.   Staff Reports 
528 6.1 Re-Hire - Parks and Recreation Groundskeeper
529
530 Craig Fraley explained that the Parks and Recreation Department would like to hire Roger 
531 Landry as a full-time Groundskeeper to fill the vacant position. Mr. Landry has worked for the 
532 Town in a few roles. There were four candidates for this position. A panel interviewed three 
533 of the candidates and Mr. Landry was selected as the recommended candidate.
534
535 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to hire 
536 Roger Landry as the full-time Parks and Recreation Groundskeeper at Step 4 Grade 5, $22.15 
537 per hour.
538 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
539 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
540
541 6.2. New Hire: Building Inspector/Code Enforcement officer/Deputy Health
542 Officer
543
544 Community Development Director, Nic Strong, explained that Bob Clark comes with many 
545 years of construction and home inspection experience. Recently he has been a part time 
546 building inspector for two local towns. He was the top candidate after interviews. 
547
548 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
549 approve the hire of Robert Clark to the position of Building Inspector/ Code Enforcement 
550 Officer/ Deputy Health Inspector, grade 15, Step 9 at $38.28 an hour, effective January 22, 
551 2024.
552 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
553 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
554

Page 93 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.01.08

PAGE 13 OF 14

555 7. Approvals
556 7.1. Payroll, AP, and Minutes
557
558 Payroll
559
560 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 
561 approve one (1) FY23 Payroll Manifest in the amount of $1,412.91 dated December 28, 2023, 
562 subject to review and audit.
563 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
564 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
565
566 Accounts Payable
567
568 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 
569 approve one (1) FY23 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of
570 $37,348.13 dated December 18, 2023, subject to review and audit. (NH DMV)
571 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
572 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
573
574 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 
575 approve one (1) FY23 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of
576 $327,111.19 dated December 21, 2023, subject to review and audit. (Vendors)
577 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
578 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
579
580 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 
581 approve one (1) FY23 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $318,500.66
582 dated January 4, 2024, subject to review and audit. (Vendors)
583 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
584 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
585
586 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 
587 approve one (1) FY23 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $3,146,219.00
588 dated January 2, 2024, subject to review and audit. (Schools)
589 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
590 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
591
592 Minutes
593
594 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
595 approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of December 11, 2023, as amended.
596 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
597 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
598
599 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
600 approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of December 15, 2023, as presented.
601 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 

Page 94 of 95



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.01.08

PAGE 14 OF 14

602 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
603
604 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
605 approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of December 18, 2023, as presented.
606 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
607 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
608
609 8. Action Items 
610 The Board reviewed its new action items.
611
612 9. Old/New Business 
613 Selectman Grella noted that the spoke with someone in Town who is willing to help write 
614 grants. Chairman Lyon stated that he would follow-up on this.
615
616 Chairman Lyon noted that the Deliberative Session would be recorded but that Zoom will not 
617 be available.
618
619 Selectman D’Angelo stated that the School boards are holding their public hearings on their 
620 agendas concurrently with this meeting.
621
622 Selectman Pray noted that there will be a celebration of the Town’s birthday with cake on 
623 January 18, 2024, from 4pm-5pm at Town Hall.
624
625 12. Adjournment 
626
627 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 
628 adjourn the meeting at 8:40pm.
629 Roll Call Vote: Lyon – aye; Grella – aye; Pray – aye; D’Angelo – aye; Stoughton – aye; 
630 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
631
632 NEXT MEETING: January 22, 2024
633  
634 _________________________      __________________
635 Selectman Bill Stoughton Date

Page 95 of 95


	1. Call to Order
	2. Pledge of Allegiance
	3. Non-Public Session
	1. RSA 91-A:3 (c) Matters which, if discussed in publ
	Staff Report

	2. RSA 91-A:3 (l) Consideration of legal advice provi
	Staff Report


	4. Public Hearing,  pursuant to New Hampshire RSA 41:14-a, Acquisition or Sale of Land, Buildings, or Both; Demolition or Disposal of Buildings. 
	1. Public Hearing, pursuant to New Hampshire RSA 41:1

	5. Citizens' Forum
	6. Scheduled Appointments
	1. Introduction of Bob Clark, Building Inspector/ Cod
	2. Lindsay Buchanan, Amherst German Christmas Market
	German Christmas Market


	7. Administration
	1. Administrative Updates
	Staff Report

	2. Investment Policy
	Staff Report
	Investment Policy - FY23 DRAFT dp
	Investment Policy - Clean copy 2024 DRAFT

	3. PFAS Grant Amendment
	Staff Report
	Draft Amendment

	4. Health Insurance contract- NH Interlocal Trust
	Staff Report
	Amherst_NTE Package (2024)

	5. BOS Action Items
	Staff Report
	BOS Action Items 2024 as of 1-8-24

	6. 2024 Warrant, with final wording
	Staff Report
	2024 WARRANT ARTICLE Final 01.11.24 Amended 01.19.24 - has signature lines


	8. Staff Reports
	1. Donation ACC- Finance
	Staff Report
	Donation - Candace G. Rapf - 01.11.2024 - $10,000

	2. Memo to Trustees of the Trust Funds- Finance
	Staff Report
	CRF Withdrawal packet BOS meeting 01.22.24 Computer System CRF $22,507.83

	3. EMS Wage Adjustments- Fire Rescue
	Staff Report
	Pay Comparisons for EMS 1.1.2024-6.30.2024 (1)
	Inaugural FY24 Fire-Rescue Wage Scale Effective 1-07-2024

	4. Stipend Adjustment- Fire Rescue
	Staff Report

	5. Detective Justin Gerome- Promotion to Sergeant-APD
	Staff Report

	6. Kevin Kelly Promotion-APD
	Staff Report
	Kelly Promotion

	7. New Hire-Kyle Cordero-APD
	Staff Report

	8. Christine Fowler Resignation-APD
	Staff Report

	9. Noemi Goohs-Change of Status (FT-PT)-APD
	Staff Report


	9. Approvals
	1. Assessing
	Staff Report

	2. AP, payroll and minutes
	Staff Report
	2023.12.29 BOS_DRAFT - WRS Tracked Changes
	2024.01.08 BOS_DRAFT - WRS Tracked Changes


	10. Action Items
	11. Old/New Business
	 Adjournment
	 Next Meeting:  February 5, 2024, Special Meeting at 4pm

	I: 
	authorized representave for: 
	NameRow1: 
	Email AddressRow1: 
	NameRow2: 
	Email AddressRow2: 
	NameRow3: 
	Email AddressRow3: 
	NameRow4: 
	Email AddressRow4: 
	NameRow5: 
	Email AddressRow5: 
	Name: 
	Title: 
	Date: 
	Check Box2: Off
	Check Box3: Off
	Check Box4: Off
	Check Box5: Off
	Check Box6: Off
	Check Box7: Off
	Check Box8: Off
	Check Box9: Off
	Check Box10: Off
	Check Box11: Off
	Check Box12: Off
	Check Box13: Off
	Check Box14: Off
	Check Box15: Off
	Check Box16: Off
	Check Box17: Off
	Check Box18: Off
	Check Box19: Off
	Check Box20: Off
	Check Box21: Off
	Check Box22: Off
	Check Box23: Off
	Check Box24: Off
	Check Box25: Off
	Check Box26: Off
	Group Name: 
	fill_2: 
	Number of Pay Periods: 
	Health Plan: 
	Class: 
	Employer Contribuons Single: 
	Employee ContribuonsSingle: 
	Employer Contribuons TwoPerson: 
	Employee ContribuonsTwoPerson: 
	Employer Contribuons Family: 
	Employee ContribuonsFamily: 
	Health Plan_2: 
	Class_2: 
	Employer ContribuonsSingle: 
	Employee ContribuonsSingle_2: 
	Employer ContribuonsTwoPerson: 
	Employee ContribuonsTwoPerson_2: 
	Employer ContribuonsFamily: 
	Employee ContribuonsFamily_2: 
	Health Plan_3: 
	Class_3: 
	Employer ContribuonsSingle_2: 
	Employee ContribuonsSingle_3: 
	Employer ContribuonsTwoPerson_2: 
	Employee ContribuonsTwoPerson_3: 
	Employer ContribuonsFamily_2: 
	Employee ContribuonsFamily_3: 
	Health Plan_4: 
	Class_4: 
	Employer ContribuonsSingle_3: 
	Employee ContribuonsSingle_4: 
	Employer ContribuonsTwoPerson_3: 
	Employee ContribuonsTwoPerson_4: 
	Employer ContribuonsFamily_3: 
	Employee ContribuonsFamily_4: 


